

UNIVERSIDAD DE INVESTIGACIÓN DE TECNOLOGÍA EXPERIMENTAL YACHAY

Escuela de Ciencias Matemáticas y Computacionales

On the main Vekua equation

Trabajo de integración curricular presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Matemático

Autor:

Tapia Riera Guido Samuel

Tutor:

Fernandes Campos Hugo Miguel, Ph.D.

Urcuquí, Abril de 2023

Autoría

Yo, **Guido Samuel Tapia Riera**, con cédula de identidad 1750857151, declaro que las ideas, juicios, valoraciones, interpretaciones, consultas bibliográficas, definiciones y conceptualizaciones expuestas en el presente trabajo; así cómo, los procedimientos y herramientas utilizadas en la investigación, son de absoluta responsabilidad de el/la autor/a del trabajo de integración curricular. Así mismo, me acojo a los reglamentos internos de la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay.

Urcuquí, Abril de 2023.

Guido Samuel Tapia Riera CI: 1750857151

Autorización de publicación

Yo, **Guido Samuel Tapia Riera**, con cédula de identidad 1750857151, cedo a la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay, los derechos de publicación de la presente obra, sin que deba haber un reconocimiento económico por este concepto. Declaro además que el texto del presente trabajo de titulación no podrá ser cedido a ninguna empresa editorial para su publicación u otros fines, sin contar previamente con la autorización escrita de la Universidad.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo de integración curricular en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación

Urcuquí, Abril de 2023.

Guido Samuel Tapia Riera CI: 1750857151

Dedication

"To my dear niece Alessia, my brother Diego (†) who watches over me from heaven, and those who helped me become involved in the beautiful world of Mathematical research."

Guido Samuel Tapia Riera

Acknowledgments

En primer lugar, quiero agradecer a Dios, a quien le debo todo. También quiero expresar mi profundo agradecimiento a mi asesor de tesis, el Dr. Hugo Campos, por sus consejos (no solo académicos), por ayudarme a entender conceptos *complejos* hasta volverlos *real*mente intuitivos y por darme la oportunidad de adentrarme en el fascinante mundo de la investigación matemática. ¡Gracias por compartir su conocimiento y experiencia conmigo! Espero algún día ser tan buen asesor con mis futuros alumnos como usted lo ha sido conmigo.

No encuentro las palabras suficientes para agradecer a mis amados padres, Guido y Marianita, por su incondicional amor, apoyo constante y sus *no metrizables* lecciones de vida. Su fe en mí ha sido la piedra angular para mi crecimiento académico y de vida. ¡Gracias por ser mis ejemplos a seguir y ser mis héroes de la vida real! Agradezco también a mi hermana Dayanara, mi sobrina Alessia, mi tío Hugo, mis primos Hugo y Diego por su apoyo constante e incondicional.

Los/as matemáticos/as aparte de beber (mucho) café y sentirse felices por encontrar nuevos problemas, también tienen la difícil (pero grandiosa labor) de formar más y mejores matemáticos/as. Es por ellos que quiero agradecer profundamente su paciencia, guía y apoyo constante en mi proceso de aprendizaje a mis queridos profes, Dres. Franklin Camacho, Juan Mayorga, Saba Infante, Rafael Amaro, Rigoberto Fonseca, Ramón Pino, Francesc Castro, Antonio Acosta, Eusebio Ariza, Hugo Leiva, Raúl Manzanilla, Juan Carlos López, y Diego Morales. Me gustaría reconocer y agradecer la muy buena predisposición de los profesores Antonio Acosta y Wilman Brito por haber revisado este trabajo. Su ayuda ha sido fundamental para agilizar el proceso de sustentación. Quiero agradecer a la familia que he formado: mis grandiosos/as amigos/as. A mi *mon cochon d'Inde*, José, Melanie, Mateo, Mishel M, Ivan, Sixto, y Horus gracias por regalarme su valiosa amistad, aconsejarme en muchísimas situaciones y siempre estar presente en momentos buenos, regulares y malos de esta hermosa travesía. A Lenin, Adrián, Sebastian, Angel, María Cristina, Darwin, Leonardo, y Luis por su guía en el mundo académico y por mostrarme la valía que tiene dejar enseñanzas en los demás. A mis estimados math-amigos Fausto, Christian, Andy, Santiago, John, y Daniel por las discusiones, opiniones y anécdotas compartidas dentro y fuera de las aulas de clase. A mis queridos little-math-amigos/as sigan esforzándose mucho, un gran futuro les atesora. Especialmente a Marcial, Ulices, y Vale. Así mismo, agradezco a Daisy, Tati, Juan Carlos y demás buenos/as administrativos/as por ponerse la camiseta de Yachay Tech y hacer de mi alma máter la mejor del Ecuador.

Finalmente, gracias a todos los amigos/as que he hecho en Yachay Tech por los momentos compartidos. Es muy complicado expresar en pocas líneas mi gratitud hacia todas las personas que me han acompañado a lo largo de estos 5 años y medio, mi cariño es *no medible* para cada uno de ustedes.

Guido Samuel Tapia Riera

Resumen

Esta tesis consta de dos partes. En la primera parte, consideramos un sistema elíptico de ecuaciones en el plano denominado ecuación principal de Vekua

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = rac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w}, \quad ext{en } \Omega, ag{1}$$

donde $\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y)$, Ω es un conjunto abierto en \mathbb{C} , $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ es una función real sin ceros definida en Ω y $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ es la función desconocida. Estudiamos aspectos teóricos de la teoría de funciones pseudoanalíticas respecto a la ecuación principal de Vekua. En concreto, partiendo del concepto de par generador desarrollamos la teoría de diferenciación e integración para (1). Luego, presentamos un método para la construcción de un sistema infinito de soluciones de (1), denominado potencias formales, que en cierto sentido generalizan las potencias usuales del análisis complejo. Además, estudiamos la conexión entre la ecuación principal de Vekua y la ecuación de Schödinger estacionaria bidimensional. En la segunda parte extendemos algunos de los resultados anteriores para la ecuación principal de Vekua en su forma matricial

$$\partial_{\overline{z}}W = (\partial_{\overline{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{W}, \text{ en } \Omega,$$

donde $F \in C^2_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ es una función matricial real invertible sin ceros definida Ω y $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$.

Palabras Clave: Ecuación principal de Vekua, teoría de funciónes pseudoanalíticas, potencias formales, ecuación estacionaria de Schödinguer.

Abstract

This thesis consists of two parts. In the first part, we consider an elliptic system of equations in the plane called main Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = rac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w}, \quad ext{in } \Omega,$$
 (2)

where $\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y)$, Ω is an open set in \mathbb{C} , $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ is a given nonvanishing realvalued function in Ω and $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ is the unknown function. We study theoretical aspects of pseudoanalytic function theory for the main Vekua equation. Specifically, starting with the concept of generating pair we develop the theory of differentiation and integration for (2). Then, we present a method for the construction of an infinite system of solutions of (2), called formal powers, that in some sense generalizes the usual powers of complex analysis. Also, we study the connection between the main Vekua equation and the two-dimensional stationary Schödinguer equation. In the second part we extend some of the previous results for the main Vekua equation in its matrix form

$$\partial_{\overline{z}}W = (\partial_{\overline{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{W}, \text{ in } \Omega,$$

where $F \in C^2_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ is a given nonvanishing invertible real matrix function in Ω and $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$.

Keywords: Main Vekua equation, pseudoanalytic function theory, formal powers, stationary Schödinguer equation.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	3
2	Preliminaries		
	2.1	Line integrals, path independence, and conservative vector fields	5
	2.2	Cauchy-Riemann operators and related topics	8
		2.2.1 The operators $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ and ∂_{z}	8
		2.2.2 The operators A and \overline{A}	9
		2.2.3 Green-Gauss Integral Theorem	10
	2.3	Analytic functions	11
3	Pset	udoanalytic function theory for the main Vekua equation	17
	3.1	Main Vekua equation	17
	3.2	Generating pair	18
	3.3	Differentiation with respect to generating pair $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$	19
	3.4	Integration with respect to the generating pair $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$	24
	3.5	Formal Powers for the main Vekua equation	
		3.5.1 Generating sequence. The special case $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$	30
		3.5.2 Definition and construction of formal powers	32
	3.6	Connection between the main Vekua equation and the two-dimensional	
		stationary Schödinger equation	39
4	On	the main matrix Vekua equation	41
	4.1	Main matrix Vekua equation	41
	4.2	Matrix generating pair	42

4.3	Differentiation with respect to generating pair		
	$(F,i(G^{-1})^T)$		
4.4	Integration with respect to the generating pair		
	$(F,i(G^{-1})^T)$		
Bibl	Bibliography		

Chapter 1

Introduction

In this work, we focused on studying an elliptic system of equations in the plane called main Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w}, \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
 (1.1)

where $\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y)$, Ω is an open set in C, $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ is a given nonvanishing real-valued function in Ω , $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ is the unkown function and \overline{w} is the conjugate of w. The interest in studying (1.1) is due to the fact that under the general conditions the study of several equations of mathematical physics such as the Dirac equation, the stationary Schrödinger equation or the Beltrami fields can be reduced to the study of the main Vekua equation (see [7]). In this work we are mainly interested in study and apply several concepts from the L. Bers theory for the main Vekua equation (1.1), such as: generating pair , differentiation and integration with respect to a generating pair, generalization of Cauchy and Morera's integral theorems, generating sequence, and construction of formal powers. An important part of this work is that we have extended some of this results for the main Vekua equation in its matrix form (Section 4)

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}W = (\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{W}, \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
(1.2)

where $F \in C^2_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ is a given nonvanishing invertible real matrix function in Ω and $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$.

This work is organized as follows. Chapter 2 is devoted to provide several results and concepts of mathematical analysis which are needed throughout the subsequent

chapters. In Chapter 3 we present the pseudoanalytic function theory for the main Vekua equation. The first important tool in this theory is the so called generator pair (Section 3.2) that play a role in pseudoanalytic function theory similar to the role of 1 and *i* in the theory of analytic functions. An important feature when dealing with equation (1.1) is that a generating pair can be constructed in closed form, namely (f, i/f) (Proposition 6). This allows one to develop the results regarding differentiation (Section 3.3) and integration (Section 3.4) for solutions of (1.1) with respect to this generating pair. Among other results, we prove the analog of the Cauchy's integral theorem (Corollary 8) and Morera's theorem (Proposition 12) for solutions of (1.1). One of the main difficulties in the study of (1.1) is that the derivative of a solution of (1.1) is a solution of (in general) another Vekua equation (see Proposition 9) called successor Vekua equation. This lead us to introduce the concept of generating sequence, a special sequence of generating pairs needed to deal in a suitable manner with higher order derivatives of solutions of (1.1) (see Definition 15). In Section 3.5 we deal with the construction of an infinite system of solutions of (1.1), called formal powers, that in some sense generalize the usual powers of complex analysis. When *f* has a separable form, $f(x,y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$ we provide a method that allows one to construct explicitly the formal powers in terms of a simple algorithm based on recursive integration (Section 3.5.2). Finally, in Section 3.6 we give a complex factorization of the two-dimensional stationary Schödinger equation in terms of Vekua type operators. This factorization is important to us because it help us to construct solutions of the Schödinger equation by means of the solutions of the main Vekua equation (see Proposition 18).

In Chapter 4 we study the main Vekua equation in its matrix form. One of the main difficulties in the study of (1.2) is the noncommutativity of the matrix product. By introducing the concept of compatible pair (Definition 18) we extend some of the results present in Chapter 3 to the solutions of (1.2).

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this Chapter we present some results from mathematical analysis needed throughout the manuscript. For further details see [1], [11], [10], and [4].

2.1 Line integrals, path independence, and conservative vector fields

Along this manuscript we denote $\mathbb{N} = \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ and $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Before introducing the definition of line integral, let us enunciate the curve and path definitions.

Definition 1. We call path in \mathbb{R}^2 to a continuous function $\gamma : [a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2, t \mapsto \gamma(t)$. While a curve Γ in \mathbb{R}^2 is the one that is defined by a path γ such that $\Gamma = \gamma([a, b])$. In this case, we say that Γ is parameterized by γ (or γ is a parameterization of Γ).

Let a curve $\Gamma \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ be parameterized by $\gamma : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}^2$. In order to give the line integral definition we first need to enunciate some concepts:

• Let $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and take a partition of the interval [a, b] as follows

$$a = t_0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_{n-1} < t_n = b.$$

This generates a partition over the curve Γ

$$A = P_0, P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_n = B,$$

where $A = \gamma(a)$ is the initial point and $B = \gamma(b)$ the terminal point of Γ .

- Let us denote P₀,..., P_n as partition points. These divide Γ into n sub-curves of length Δs_i where i = 1,...,n. Also, note that Δx_i and Δy_i are the projection of each sub-curve onto the x and y axes, respectively.
- ||P|| denotes the length of the longest sub-curve.
- $\gamma(t_i^*) = (x(t_i^*), y(t_i^*))$ denotes some point over the *i*-th sub-curve where $t_i^* \in [t_{i-1}, t_i]$ and i = 1, ..., n. For simplicity we denote $(x(t_i^*), y(t_i^*))$ as (x_i^*, y_i^*) .

Without loss generality, we assume that the domains where the functions used in this section are defined are open.

Definition 2. Let $f : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function and $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ be a curve parameterized by $\gamma : [a,b] \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$. Then

(a) The line integral of f with respect to x along Γ from $A = \gamma(a)$ to $B = \gamma(b)$ is given as

$$\int_{\Gamma} f(x,y) dx = \lim_{\|P\| \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f\left(x_i^*, y_i^*\right) \Delta x_i.$$

(b) The line integral of f with respect to y along Γ from $A = \gamma(a)$ to $B = \gamma(b)$ is given by

$$\int_{\Gamma} f(x,y) dy = \lim_{\|P\| \to 0} \sum_{i=1}^{n} f\left(x_i^*, y_i^*\right) \Delta y_i.$$

Remark 1. It is important to mention that a line integral is independent of the parameterization of the curve Γ as long as Γ is equipped with the same orientation through all parametric equations defining the curve Γ .

Now, we extend the line integral concept to vector fields. Formally, we get

Definition 3. Let $F = (P, Q) : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be a continuous vector field and $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$. Then, the line integral of F along Γ is defined as follows

$$\int_{\Gamma} F \cdot d\gamma := \int_{\Gamma} P(x, y) dx + \int_{\Gamma} Q(x, y) dy.$$

Proposition 1. Let $F = (P,Q) : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be a continuous vector field and a smooth curve (or piece-wise smooth) $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ be parameterized by $\gamma = (x(t), y(t)) : [a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma} P(x,y)dx + \int_{\Gamma} Q(x,y)dy = \int_{a}^{b} P(\gamma(t))x'(t)dt + \int_{a}^{b} Q(\gamma(t))y'(t)dt.$$

Mathematician

Definition 4. We say that a vector field $F : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is conservative if there exists $\varphi : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R} \in C^1(\Omega)$ such that $F = \nabla \varphi$ in Ω . Moreover, in this case we say that φ is the potential of F.

Theorem 1 (Fundamental Theorem for Line Integrals). Let $F = (P, Q) : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ be a vector field and a smooth curve (or piece-wise smooth) $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ be parameterized by $\gamma : [a, b] \subseteq \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$. If *F* is a conservative vector field and $\varphi : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is the corresponding potential function, then the integral of *F* along Γ depends only of the initial and terminal point and

$$\int_{\Gamma} F \cdot d\gamma = \varphi(B) - \varphi(A),$$

where $A = \gamma(a)$ and $B = \gamma(b)$.

See Ruiz [10, Th. 7.4.1, pp. 703] for a proof.

Corollary 1. Under the conditions of Theorem 1 for a closed curve Γ we have that

$$\oint_{\Gamma} P(x,y)dx + Q(x,y)dy = 0.$$

Note that if Corollary 1 is fulfilled for every closed curve in the domain of definition of *F*, then we have that *F* is a conservative vector field.

Theorem 2. Let a vector field $F : \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ of class C^1 where Ω is a simply connected domain. We have that F is conservative if and only if

$$P_y = Q_x, \quad in \ \Omega. \tag{2.1}$$

See Ruiz [10, Th. 7.4.4, pp. 714] for a proof.

Theorem 2 give us a tool to construct potential functions of conservative fields. To end this section we introduce the real version of the Green's formula which will be important for section 3.4

Theorem 3. Let a regular domain $\Omega^1 \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ and a continuously differentiable vector field $F = (P, Q) : \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}^2$. Then the following formula is valid:

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(P_x(x,y) - Q_y(x,y) \right) dx dy = \int_{\partial \Omega} (P(x,y) dy + Q(x,y) dx).$$

See Tutschke [11, Lemma. 6, pp. 106] for a proof.

¹We say that Ω is a regular domain if Ω is bounded and $\partial \Omega$ is formed by a finite number of piecewise continuously differentiable simple closed Jordan curves.

2.2 Cauchy-Riemann operators and related topics

2.2.1 The operators $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ and ∂_z

Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{C} .

Definition 5. *The linear operators* $\partial_{\overline{z}}, \partial_{\overline{z}} : C^1(\Omega) \to C(\Omega)$ *given by*

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} := \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y) \quad and \quad \partial_z := \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x - i\partial_y)^2,$$

are known as the Cauchy-Riemann operators.

Remark 2. The operator $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ acts on a complex function $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$ as follows

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\Phi := rac{1}{2}(\partial_x\Phi_1 - \partial_y\Phi_2 + i(\partial_y\Phi_1 + \partial_x\Phi_2)).$$

Proposition 2. Let $\Phi, \Psi \in C^1(\Omega)$ be complex valued functions, then:

- (a) $\partial_{\bar{z}}\partial_{z}\Phi = \partial_{z}\partial_{\bar{z}}\Phi = \frac{1}{4}\Delta\Phi$, where $\Delta = \partial_{x}^{2} + \partial_{y}^{2}$ is the Laplacian operator (here $\Phi \in C^{2}(\Omega)$)
- (b) $\partial_{\bar{z}}C\Phi = C\partial_{z}\Phi$, where $C\Phi = \overline{\Phi}$ is the conjugation operator
- (c) $\partial_{\bar{z}}(\Phi \Psi) = (\partial_{\bar{z}} \Phi) \Psi + \Phi \partial_{\bar{z}}(\Psi)$

Proof. Let us prove item (*a*). We have

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\bar{z}}\partial_{z}\Phi &= \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\bar{z}}(\partial_{x}\Phi - i\partial_{y}\Phi) \\ &= \frac{1}{4}(\partial_{x}^{2}\Phi - i\partial_{x}\partial_{y}\Phi + i\partial_{y}\partial_{x}\Phi + \partial_{y}^{2}\Phi) \end{aligned}$$

note that $\partial_x \partial_y \Phi = u_{yx} + iv_{yx}$ and $\partial_y \partial_x \Phi = u_{xy} + iv_{xy}$. By Clairaut's Theorem we get $\partial_x \partial_y \Phi = \partial_y \partial_x \Phi$. Thus

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\partial_z \Phi = rac{1}{4}(\partial_x^2 \Phi + \partial_y^2 \Phi) = rac{1}{4}\Delta \Phi.$$

Analogous for $\partial_z \partial_{\bar{z}} \Phi$. Now we prove item (*b*). We have

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}C\Phi = \partial_{\bar{z}}(u - iv) = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x u + \partial_y v + i(\partial_y v - \partial_x v))$$
(2.2)

$$C\partial_z \Phi = C\partial_z (u + iv) = C \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x u + \partial_y v + i(\partial_x v - \partial_y u))$$

= $\frac{1}{2} (\partial_x u + \partial_y v + i(\partial_y v - \partial_x v))$ (2.3)

 ${}^{2}\partial_{x}$ and ∂_{y} denote the partial derivative respect to *x* and *y*, respectively.

Consequently, by (2.2) and (2.3) we get that $\partial_{\bar{z}}C\Phi = C\partial_{z}\Phi$. Finally, let us prove (*c*). Applying $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ to $\Phi\Psi$ we get

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\bar{z}}(\Phi \Psi) &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_x + i \partial_y \right) (\Phi \Psi) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_x (\Phi \Psi) + i \partial_y (\Phi \Psi) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_x \Phi) \Psi + \Phi (\partial_x \Psi) + i (\partial_y \Phi) \Psi + i \Phi (\partial_y \Psi) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left((\partial_x \Phi) \Psi + i (\partial_y \Phi) \Psi \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\Phi (\partial_x \Psi) + i \Phi (\partial_y \Psi) \right) \\ &= (\partial_{\bar{z}} \Phi) \Psi + \Phi (\partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of Proposition 2.

2.2.2 The operators *A* and \overline{A}

Let us consider the equation

$$\partial_z \varphi = \Phi, \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
 (2.4)

(which will be needed in Section 3.4). Here $\Phi \in C^1(\Omega)$ is a given complex-valued function $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$, the unknown function φ is real valued and Ω is a simply connected domain. Taking into consideration the real and the imaginary parts of (2.4) we realize that it is equivalent to the following system

$$\partial_x \varphi = 2\Phi_1, \ \partial_y \varphi = -2\Phi_2$$

which tell us that φ is a potential of the vectorial field $F := (2\Phi_1, -2\Phi_2)$. According to Theorem 2 this is possible if the compatibility condition

$$\partial_y \Phi_1 + \partial_x \Phi_2 = 0 \tag{2.5}$$

holds on Ω . Moreover, φ can be recovered up to a constant by the formula

$$\varphi(x,y) = 2\left(\int_{\Gamma} \Phi_1(x,y)dx - \Phi_2(x,y)dy\right) + c \tag{2.6}$$

where $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ is some curve joining an arbitrary fixed point (x_0, y_0) to (x, y).

Definition 6. For a complex function $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$ fulfilling (2.5) let us define

$$A[\Phi](x,y) = 2\left(\int_{\Gamma} \Phi_1(x,y)dx - \Phi_2(x,y)dy\right).$$
(2.7)

Note that the previous operator can be also written as follows:

$$A[\Phi](x,y) = 2\operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma} \left(\Phi_1(x,y) + i\Phi_2(x,y)\right) (dx + idy) = 2\operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma} \Phi(z)dz.$$

By construction we have proved the following proposition.

Proposition 3. If $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$ fulfills (2.5), then $\partial_z A[\Phi] = \Phi$.

Remark 3. The previous proposition tell us that in some sense the operator A is the right inverse of ∂_z .

Remark 4. By analogy it is easy to see that a kind of right inverse for ∂_z can be constructed by the formula

$$\bar{A}[\Phi](x,y) = 2\left(\int_{\Gamma} \Phi_1(x,y)dx + \Phi_2(x,y)dy\right)$$

assuming that the real and imaginary parts of Φ enjoy the compatibility condition $\partial_y \Phi_1 - \partial_x \Phi_2 = 0$.

2.2.3 Green-Gauss Integral Theorem

The following theorem is the complex version of the Green's formula.

Theorem 4. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ be a regular domain and a continuously differentiable complex function Φ defined in $\overline{\Omega}$. Then the following formulas are valid:

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Phi(z) dx dy = \frac{1}{2i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \Phi(z) dz, \qquad (2.8)$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_z \Phi(z) dx dy = -\frac{1}{2i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \Phi(z) d\bar{z}.$$
(2.9)

Proof. Let us prove (2.8). Setting $\Phi = \Phi_1 + i\Phi_2$, from the definition of $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ we get

$$2\int_{\Omega}\partial_{\bar{z}}\Phi(z)dxdy = \int_{\Omega} \left(\partial_{x}\Phi_{1}(x,y) - \partial_{y}\Phi_{2}(x,y)\right)dxdy + i\int_{\Omega} \left(\partial_{x}\Phi_{2}(x,y) + \partial_{y}\Phi_{1}(x,y)\right)dxdy$$

Mathematician

From the Green's formula (Theorem 3) we get

$$\begin{split} 2\int_{\Omega}\partial_{\bar{z}}\Phi(z)dxdy &= -\int_{\partial\Omega}\left(\Phi_{1}(x,y)dy + \Phi_{2}(x,y)dx\right) - i\int_{\partial\Omega}\left(\Phi_{2}(x,y)dy - \Phi_{1}(x,y)dx\right) \\ &= i\int_{\partial\Omega}\left(i\Phi_{1}(x,y)dy + i\Phi_{2}(x,y)dx\right) + \int_{\partial\Omega}\left(\Phi_{1}(x,y)dx - \Phi_{2}(x,y)dy\right) \\ &= i\int_{\Omega}\left(\Phi_{1}(x,y)dx + i\Phi_{1}(x,y)dy + i\Phi_{2}(x,y)dx - \Phi_{2}(x,y)dy\right) \\ &= i\int_{\partial\Omega}\Phi(z)dz \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\int_{\Omega} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Phi(z) dx dy = \frac{1}{2i} \int_{\partial \Omega} \Phi(z) dz.$$

To prove formula (2.9) note that $\overline{\partial_{\overline{z}}\Phi} = \partial_{\overline{z}}\overline{\Phi}$. Then, replacing $\overline{\Phi}$ by Φ we easily obtain (2.9).

Corollary 2. Under the conditions of Theorem 4, for a domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ bounded by a simple closed smooth curve Γ we have the Cauchy theorem for analytic functions

$$\oint_{\Gamma} \Phi(z) dz = 0.$$

2.3 Analytic functions

Let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{C} and Φ a complex-valued function defined in Ω .

Definition 7. We say that Φ has complex derivative at $z_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if the following *limit exists* $\Phi(z) = \Phi(z_0)$

$$\Phi'(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0)}{z - z_0}.$$

If Φ has a complex derivative at z_0 and at every point of some neighborhood of z_0 , then we say that Φ is analytic at z_0 . Also, we say that Φ is analytic on Ω if Φ is analytic at each point of Ω . By analogy to the theory of functions of real variable for analytic functions we have:

Proposition 4. *If* Φ *has complex derivative at* $z_o \in \Omega$ *, then* Φ *is continuous at that point.*

See Asmar [1, Th. 2.3.4, pp. 115] for a proof.

Proposition 5. Assume that Φ and Ψ are analytic functions in Ω and let c_1 and c_2 complex constants, then

Mathematician

(a) $c_1 \Phi + c_2 \Psi$ is analytic on Ω and

$$(c_1 \Phi + c_2 \Psi)'(z) = c_1 \Phi'(z) + c_2 \Psi'(z)$$

(b) $\Phi \Psi$ is analytic on Ω and

$$(\Phi \Psi)'(z) = \Phi'(z)\Psi(z) + \Phi(z)\Psi'(z).$$

(c) Φ/Ψ is analytic on $\tilde{\Omega}$, where $\tilde{\Omega} = \Omega \setminus \{z \in \Omega : \Psi(z) = 0\}$ and

$$\left(\frac{\Phi}{\Psi}\right)'(z) = \frac{\Phi'(z)\Psi(z) - \Phi(z)\Psi'(z)}{\Psi^2(z)}.$$

See Asmar [1, Th. 2.3.5, pp. 116] for a proof.

Theorem 5 (Cauchy-Riemann Equations). Let $\Phi(z) = u(x,y) + iv(x,y)$ be a complex function defined in Ω and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. If Φ has complex derivative at z_0 , then at z_0 the first order partial derivatives of u and v exist and satisfy the following equations

$$u_x(x_0, y_0) = v_y(x_0, y_0)$$
 and $u_y(x_0, y_0) = -v_x(x_0, y_0).$ (2.10)

Proof. Let $z_0 \in \Omega$ and assume that $\Phi = u + iv$ has complex derivative at z_0 . Then

$$\Phi'(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0)}{z - z_0},$$

=
$$\lim_{(x,y) \to (x_0,y_0)} \frac{u(x,y) - u(x_0,y_0) + i(v(x,y) - v(x_0,y_0))}{x - x_0 + i(y - y_0)}.$$
 (2.11)

Since $\Phi'(z_0)$ exists, the value of (2.11) is the same for any direction. Particularly, by setting $y = y_0$ and $x \to x_0$, we get

$$\Phi'(z_0) = \lim_{y=y_0, x \to x_0} \left(\frac{u(x, y_0) - u(x_0, y_0)}{x - x_0} + i \frac{v(x, y_0) - v(x, y_0)}{x - x_0} \right)$$

= $u_x(x_0, y_0) + i u_x(x_0, y_0).$ (2.12)

Analogously, setting $x = x_0$ and $y \rightarrow y_0$ we get

$$\Phi'(z_0) = v_y(x, y) - iv_y(x_0, y_0).$$
(2.13)

Then, by (2.12) and (2.13) we obtain (2.10).

Mathematician

Equations on (2.10) are known as the Cauchy-Riemann equations. These equations also provide a helpful rule to compute the complex derivative, let us see it in the following corollary.

Corollary 3. If $\Phi'(z_0)$ exists, then

$$\Phi'(z_0) = u_x(x_0, y_0) + iv_x(x_0, y_0) = v_y(x_0, y_0) - iu_y(x_0, y_0).$$

By themselves, the Cauchy-Riemann equations are not a sufficient condition to guarantee the existence of the complex derivative. Let us see this in the next example.

Example 1. Let us consider $\Phi(z) = u(x, y) + iv(x, y)$ where

$$u(x,y) = \frac{x^3 - y^3}{x^2 + y^2}$$
 and $v(x,y) = \frac{x^3 + y^3}{x^2 + y^2}$

for $(x, y) \neq (0, 0)$ and u(0, 0) = v(0, 0) = (0, 0). Let us compute the partial derivatives of u and v at (0, 0). We have

$$u_x(0,0) = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{u(0+h,0) - u(0,0)}{h}$$
$$= \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\frac{h^3}{h^2} - 0}{h} = 1.$$

By analogy we also get $u_y(0,0) = -1$, $v_x(0,0) = 1$, and $v_y(0,0) = 1$. Thus, the Cauchy-Riemann equations are satisfied at (0,0). However, Φ has no complex derivative at that point. To see it, note that

$$\Phi'(0) = \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(0)}{z - 0} = \lim_{z \to 0} \frac{x^3 - y^3 + i(x^3 + y^3)}{(x^2 + y^2)(x + iy)},$$

and taking the directional limit along the lines y = 0 and y = x we get

$$\lim_{x \to 0, y=0} \frac{x^3(1+i)}{x^3} = 1+i, \quad \lim_{x \to 0, y=x} \frac{i2x^3}{2x^3(1+i)} = \frac{i}{1+i}.$$

Therefore, Φ *at* z = 0 *does not derivative in that point.*

As we shall see later, if u and v are sufficiently smooth, then via Cauchy-Riemann equations, we can guarantee the existence of complex derivative for Φ . First let us state some auxiliary definitions and facts.

Definition 8. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^2$ be an open set and $(x_0, y_0) \in \Omega$. A scalar field $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ is \mathbb{R}^2 -differentiable at (x_0, y_0) if the partial derivatives exist and

$$\lim_{(x,y)\to(x_0,y_0)}\frac{u(x,y)-u(x_0,y_0)-u_x(x_0,y_0)(x-x_0)-u_y(x_0,y_0)(y-y_0)}{\sqrt{(x-x_0)^2+(y-y_0)^2}}=0$$

Lemma 1. Let $z_0 \in \Omega$ and Φ , Ψ be complex functions defined in a neighborhood of z_0 . Then, $\lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z)}{\Psi(z)} = 0 \text{ if and only if } \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z)}{|\Psi(z)|} = 0.$

Proof. The proof of this Lemma is straightforward using $\varepsilon - \delta$ definition of limit. \Box

Theorem 6. A function $\Phi = u + iv$ defined in Ω has a complex derivative at $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if both conditions hold:

- (a) u and v are \mathbb{R}^2 -differentiable at (x_0, y_0) ;
- (b) u and v satisfy the Cauchy-Riemann equations (2.10) at (x_0, y_0) .

Proof. Assume that Φ has a complex derivative at z_0 . Then from Theorem 5 we have that (*b*) holds. Also, from definition of complex derivative we get

$$\lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0) - \Phi'(z_0)(z - z_0)}{z - z_0} = 0.$$
(2.14)

By (2.14) and Lemma 1 we deduce

$$\lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0) - \Phi'(z_0)(z - z_0)}{|z - z_0|} = 0,$$

or equivalently

$$\lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0) - \Phi'(z_0)(z - z_0)}{\sqrt{(x - x_0)^2 + (y - y_0)^2}} = 0.$$
 (2.15)

Taking into account that $\Phi'(z_0) = u_x(x_0, y_0) + iv_x(x_0, y_0)$ that u, v satisfy the Cauchy-Riemann equations the numerator of (2.15) can be written as follows

$$\Phi(z) - \Phi(z_0) - \Phi'(z_0)(z - z_0) =$$

= $u(x, y) - u(x_0, y_0) - u_x(x_0, y_0)(x - x_0) - u_y(x_0, y_0)(y - y_0)$
+ $i[v(x, y) - v(x_0, y_0) - v_x(x_0, y_0)(x - x_0) - v_y(x_0, y_0)(y - y_0)].$ (2.16)

Joining (2.16) with (2.15) we easily deduce

$$\lim_{(x,y)\to(x_0,y_0)}\frac{u(x,y)-u(x_0,y_0)-u_x(x_0,y_0)(x-x_0)-u_y(x_0,y_0)(y-y_0)}{\sqrt{(x-x_0)^2+(y-y_0)^2}}=0,$$
 (2.17)

Mathematician

Graduation Project

$$\lim_{(x,y)\to(x_0,y_0)}\frac{v(x,y)-v(x_0,y_0)-v_x(x_0,y_0)(x-x_0)-v_y(x_0,y_0)(y-y_0)}{\sqrt{(x-x_0)^2+(y-y_0)^2}}=0.$$
 (2.18)

From (2.17) and (2.18), we have proved (*a*). Conversely, from the Cauchy-Riemann equations we see that (2.16) holds if we set $\Phi'(z_0) = u_x(x_0, y_0) + iv_x(x_0, y_0)$. Moreover, joining (2.17), (2.18), and (2.16) we get (2.15) which is equivalent to (2.14). Finally from (2.14) we conclude that Φ has a complex derivative at z_0 .

Chapter 3

Pseudoanalytic function theory for the main Vekua equation

3.1 Main Vekua equation

Let Ω be an open set in C. An equation of the form

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = aw + b\overline{w}, \quad \text{ in } \Omega,$$
(3.1)

is called Vekua equation. Here $\partial_{\overline{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_x + i\partial_y)$ is the Cauchy-Riemann operator, \overline{w} is the conjugate of w, a and $b \in C(\Omega)$ are given functions (called coefficients) and $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ is the unknown function. All the involved functions are complex valued.

Historically, the mathematical theory for (3.1) was mainly developed by Lipman Bers (Theory of pseudoanalytic functions, see [2]) and by Ilya Vekua (Generalized Analytic Functions, see [12]).

This chapter is devoted to the study of an important special Vekua equation introduced and studied in [7], called the main Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w}.$$
(3.2)

Here $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ is a given real-valued function such that $f(z) \neq 0$ in Ω . Note that (3.2) is a particular case of (3.1) with a = 0 and $b = \frac{f_{\overline{z}}}{f}$ and that setting w = u + iv (3.2), is

equivalent to the following first order elliptic system of equations

$$u_{x} - v_{y} - \frac{f_{x}}{f}u - \frac{f_{y}}{f}v = 0,$$

$$u_{y} + v_{x} - \frac{f_{y}}{f}u + \frac{f_{x}}{f}v = 0.$$
(3.3)

Observe that if we choose f = 1 then the main Vekua equation (3.2) is $\partial_{\bar{z}}w = 0$ and (3.3) is the Cauchy Riemann system defining the classical analytic functions. We tress that, regarding possible applications, the main Vekua equation is far-reaching than the Cauchy-Riemann system. In fact, as shown in [7], under the general conditions the study of several equations of mathematical physics such as the Dirac equation (see [6]), the stationary Schrödinger equation (see Section 3.6) or the Beltrami fields (see [9]) can be reduced to the study of the main Vekua equation.

In our study of the main Vekua equation we will consider mainly the constructive techniques developed by L. Bers, known as Pseudoanalytic function theory, since they are more close generalizations from complex analysis. In the next section we start by introducing the first important tool of this theory, the so-called generator pair. In our exposition we have followed mainly [2] and [7]

3.2 Generating pair

Definition 9. Let *F* and *G* be complex functions¹ defined in Ω . We say that (*F*,*G*) is a generating pair corresponding to (3.1) in Ω if

- (a) $F, G \in C^1(\Omega)$ and they are solutions of (3.1).
- (b) For $z_0 \in \Omega$ we have that

$$\forall m \in \mathbb{C}, \exists \lambda, \beta \in \mathbb{R}: \quad m = \lambda F(z_0) + \beta G(z_0).$$

Up to this point, we note that the generating pair play a role in the pseudoanalytic function theory similar to the role of 1 and *i* in the classical theory of complex analysis.

¹In order to unify notation, we use a slight abuse of notation for writing complex functions. Specifically, for a complex function $\Phi = u + iv$ we write u(x, y) = u(x + iy) = u(z) and v(x, y) = v(x + iy) = v(z).

An important fact is that in the case of the main Vekua equation, a generating pair can be constructed in explicit form as we explain next.

Proposition 6. Let $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ be a nonvanishing function in Ω . Then, $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$ is a generating pair corresponding to the main Vekua equation (3.2).

Proof. Clearly f and i/f satisfy (3.2). Let $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. Let us take any $m = m_1 + im_2 \in \mathbb{C}$. We choose $\lambda = m_1/f(z_0)$ and $\beta = m_2f(z_0)$. Then, we get

$$m = \lambda f(z_0) + \beta \frac{i}{f(z_0)}.$$

Therefore, by arbitrariness of *m* we have proved that $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$ is a generating pair for (3.2).

3.3 Differentiation with respect to generating pair $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$

Consider the generating pair (f, i/f) corresponding to the main Vekua equation (3.2) given as in Proposition 6. Let $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ an arbitrary function. With the help of the generating pair (f, i/f), w can written as

$$w = \varphi f + \psi rac{i}{f}$$
, in Ω ,

where $\varphi = \text{Re}(w)/f$ and $\psi = \text{Im}(w)f$ are real-valued. Now, we introduce the concept of (f, i/f)-derivative. Formally, we get

Definition 10. Let $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. We say that w has $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$ -derivative at z_0 if the following limit

$$\dot{w}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{w(z) - \left(\varphi(z_0)f(z) + \psi(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z)}\right)}{z - z_0}$$
(3.4)

exists and is finite.

If \dot{w} exists everywhere in Ω , we say that w is (f, i/f)-pseudoanalytic of first kind on Ω (or simply pseudoanalytic if there is no confusion). The following auxiliary function

(for a fixed z_0 in Ω)

$$\widetilde{w} := w - \left(\varphi(z_0)f + \psi(z_0)\frac{i}{f}\right), \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
(3.5)

will be useful for what follows next.

Proposition 7. A complex function w defined in Ω has (f, i/f)-derivative at $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if a complex function \tilde{w} defined in Ω given by (3.5) has complex derivative at $z_0 \in \Omega$. Moreover, $\dot{w}(z_0) = \tilde{w}'(z_0)$.

Proof. Assume that w has $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$ -derivative at z_0 , that is,

$$\dot{w}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{w(z) - \left(\varphi(z_0)f(z) + \psi(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z)}\right)}{z - z_0}.$$

From (3.5) we get $\tilde{w}(z_0) = 0$, it follows that

$$\dot{w}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\widetilde{w}(z)}{z - z_0} = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\widetilde{w}(z) - \widetilde{w}(z_0)}{z - z_0}.$$

Then, $\dot{w}(z_0) = \tilde{w}'(z_0)$. Conversely, the other direction is clear.

Corollary 4. Let $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. If w has (f, i/f)-derivative, then for $\tilde{w} : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ given by (3.5) we have:

- (a) By previous Proposition \tilde{w} has complex derivative at z_0 . Thus \tilde{w} satisfies the Cauchy-Riemann equations at z_0 , which is equivalent to $\tilde{w}_{\overline{z}}(z_0) = 0$.
- (b) The complex derivative of \tilde{w} at z_0 is computed by $\tilde{w}_z(z_0)$.

Theorem 7. Let a complex function $w = \varphi f + i\psi/f \in C^1(\Omega)$ and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. Then, w has (f, i/f)-derivative at z_0 if and only if

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)} = 0.$$
 (3.6)

Moreover, we have that

$$\dot{w}(z_0) = \varphi_z(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_z(z_0)rac{i}{f(z_0)}.$$

Proof. Let us consider the function $\widetilde{w} : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ given by

$$\widetilde{w}(z) = w(z) - \left(\varphi(z_0) f(z) + \psi(z_0) \frac{i}{f(z)}\right).$$

Note that

$$\widetilde{w}(z) = (\varphi(z) - \varphi(z_0))f(z) + (\psi(z) - \psi(z_0))\frac{i}{f(z)}.$$

Then, applying $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ we get

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{w}_{\overline{z}}(z) = &\partial_{\overline{z}} \left(\left(\varphi(z) - \varphi(z_0) \right) f(z) + \left(\psi(z) - \psi(z_0) \right) \frac{i}{f(z)} \right) \\ = &\varphi_{\overline{z}}(x, y) f(z) + \left(\varphi(z) - \varphi(z_0) \right) f_{\overline{z}}(z) + \psi_{\overline{z}}(z) \frac{i}{f(z)} \\ &- \left(\psi(z) - \psi(z_0) \right) \frac{i f_{\overline{z}}(z)}{f^2(z)} \end{split}$$

evaluating at z_0 we get

$$\widetilde{w}_{\overline{z}}(z_0) = \varphi_{\overline{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\overline{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)}.$$
(3.7)

In a similar way we get

$$\widetilde{w}_{z}(z_{0}) = \varphi_{z}(z_{0})f(z_{0}) + \psi_{z}(z_{0})\frac{i}{f(z_{0})}.$$
(3.8)

Assume that w has (f, i/f)-derivative at z_0 . Then, from Corollary 4 follows that $\widetilde{w}_{\overline{z}}(z_0) = 0$, joining this with (3.7) we get

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)} = 0.$$

Moreover, again by item (b) of Corollary 4 and Proposition 7 we get

$$\dot{w}(z_0) = \varphi_z(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_z(z_0)rac{i}{f(z_0)}.$$

Conversely, if (3.6) holds then by (3.7) we have that $\tilde{w}_{\bar{z}}(z_0) = 0$ and from (3.8) we get $\tilde{w}'(z_0) = \dot{w}(z_0)$. This completes the proof.

Proposition 8. A complex function $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ has (f, i/f)-derivative at $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if it satisfies the main Vekua Equation (3.2) at z_0 .

Mathematician

Proof. Assume that w has (f, i/f)-derivative at z_0 . From Theorem 7 we get

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)} = 0.$$
(3.9)

Note that

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)} + \varphi(z_0)f_{\bar{z}}(z_0) - \varphi(z_0)f_{\bar{z}}(z_0) \\ &- \psi(z_0)\frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f^2(z_0)} + \psi(z_0)\frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f^2(z_0)} \\ &= \varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \varphi(z_0)f_{\bar{z}}(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)} - \psi(z_0)\frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f^2(z_0)} \\ &- \varphi(z_0)f_{\bar{z}}(z_0) + \psi(z_0)\frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f^2(z_0)} \\ &= w_{\bar{z}}(z_0) - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f(z_0)}\left(\varphi(z_0)f(z_0) - \psi(z_0)\frac{i}{f(z_0)}\right) \\ &= w_{\bar{z}}(z_0) - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}(z_0)}{f(z_0)}\overline{w}(z_0). \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$w_{\overline{z}}(z_0) = \frac{f_{\overline{z}}(z_0)}{f(z_0)}\overline{w}(z_0).$$

Conversely, we assume that w satisfies the main Vekua equation (3.2) at z_0 . By the previous direction we easily obtain that

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)f(z_0) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z_0)rac{i}{f(z_0)} = 0$$
,

and the result follows from Theorem 7.

Corollary 5. Under the conditions of Proposition 8, $w \in C^1(\Omega)$ is a solution of the main Vekua equation in Ω if and only if

$$arphi_{ar{z}}(z)f(z)+\psi_{ar{z}}(z)rac{i}{f(z)}=0, \quad orall z\in \Omega.$$

Proposition 9. If a function $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ is a solution of the main Vekua equation in Ω , then the (f, i/f)-derivative of w is a solution of the following Vekua equation

$$(\dot{w})_{\bar{z}} = -\frac{f_z}{f}\overline{\dot{w}}, \quad in \ \Omega.$$
 (3.10)

Mathematician

Proof. Let $z = x + iy \in \Omega$. Since *w* is solution of the main Vekua equation at *z*, we get

$$\dot{w}(z) = \varphi_z(z)f(z) + \psi_z \frac{i}{f(z)}.$$
 (3.11)

By from Corollary 5 we get

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}}(z)f(z) + \psi_{\bar{z}}(z)\frac{i}{f(z)} = 0$$
 (3.12)

taking the conjugate to (3.12), we have that

$$\varphi_z(z)f(z) - \psi_z(z)\frac{i}{f(z)} = 0.$$
 (3.13)

Solving (3.11) and (3.13), we get

$$\varphi_z(z) = \frac{\dot{w}(z)}{2f(z)}$$
 and $\psi_z(z) = \frac{f(z)\dot{w}(z)}{2i}$. (3.14)

Applying ∂_z to (3.12) we get

$$\varphi_{\bar{z}z}(z)f(z) + \varphi_{\bar{z}}(z)f_z(z) + \psi_{\bar{z}z}\frac{i}{f(z)} - \frac{i\psi_{\bar{z}}(z)f_z(z)}{f^2(z)} = 0.$$
(3.15)

Applying $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ to (3.11) we get

$$\dot{w}_{\bar{z}}(z) = \varphi_{\bar{z}z}(z)f(z) + \varphi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z) + \psi_{\bar{z}z}\frac{i}{f(z)} - \frac{i\psi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^{2}(z)}$$
(3.16)

Replacing (3.15) in (3.16) we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{w}_{\bar{z}}(z) &= \varphi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{i\psi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^{2}(z)} - \varphi_{\bar{z}}(z)f_{z}(z) + \frac{i\psi_{\bar{z}}(z)f_{z}(z)}{f^{2}(z)} \\ &= \varphi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{i\psi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^{2}(z)} - \overline{\left(\varphi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{i\psi_{z}(z)f_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^{2}(z)}\right)} \end{split}$$
(3.17)

Replacing (3.14) in (3.17) we have that

$$\begin{split} \dot{w}_{\bar{z}}(z) &= \frac{\dot{w}(z)}{2f(z)} f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{f(z)\dot{w}(z)}{2i} \frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^2(z)} - \overline{\left(\frac{\dot{w}(z)}{2f(z)} f_{\bar{z}}(z) + \frac{f(z)\dot{w}(z)}{2i} \left(\frac{if_{\bar{z}}(z)}{f^2(z)}\right)\right)} \\ &= \frac{\dot{w}(z)}{2f(z)} f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{\dot{w}(z)}{2f(z)} f_{\bar{z}}(z) - \frac{\ddot{w}(z)f_{z}(z)}{2f(z)} - \frac{\ddot{w}(z)f_{z}(z)}{2f(z)} \\ &= -\frac{f_{z}(z)\ddot{w}(z)}{f(z)} \end{split}$$

Therefore, the proof is done.

Definition 11. Note that (3.10) is a Vekua equation. More precisely, let $v = u + iv : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ and $f \in C^2(\Omega)$ be nonvanishing function in Ω . The successor Vekua equation of (3.2) is given by

$$v_{\overline{z}} = -\frac{f_z}{f}\overline{v}, \quad in \ \Omega.$$
 (3.18)

3.4 Integration with respect to the generating pair $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$

By equation (3.14) we get

$$\varphi_z = \frac{\dot{w}}{2f}$$
 and $\psi_z = -\frac{if\dot{w}}{2}$, in Ω . (3.19)

To recover φ and ψ we use the operator *A* (defined in section 2.2.2). Then, applying operator *A* to each equation in (3.19) we recover φ and ψ as follows

$$\varphi = A\left[\frac{\dot{w}}{2f}\right]$$
 and $\psi = -A\left[\frac{if\dot{w}}{2}\right]$

Hence, we write any complex-valued function w defined in Ω in terms of operator A in the following way:

$$w = fA\left[\frac{\dot{w}}{2f}\right] - \frac{i}{f}A\left[\frac{if\dot{w}}{2}\right]$$
(3.20)

Consequently, in (3.20) appears the additive term $c_1f + ic_2/f$ for $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. Fixing $w(z_0)$ where $z_0 \in \Omega$, we have that $c_1 = \varphi(z_0)$ and $c_2 = \psi(z_0)$.

Definition 12. Let *w* a complex-value function defined in Ω and Γ a rectifiable curve leading from $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0$ to $z_1 = x_1 + iy_1$ in Ω . Then, we have that

(a) The
$$\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$$
-*-integral is defined as

$$* \int_{\Gamma} w(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} w(z) dz - i \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} i f(z) w(z) dz.$$

(b) The
$$\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$$
-integral is defined by

$$\int_{\Gamma} w(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = f(z_1) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} w(z) dz - \frac{i}{f(z_1)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} if(z) w(z) dz. \quad (3.21)$$

Definition 13. Let $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function. We say that w is (f, i/f)-integrable in Ω if for every closed curve Γ lying in a simply connected subdomain of Ω we have

$$\oint_{\Gamma} w(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = 0.$$
(3.22)

Proposition 10. Let $w : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ be a solution of the main Vekua equation in Ω where Ω is simply connected domain. Then its (f, i/f)-derivative is (f, i/f)-integrable in Ω .

Proof. Let us take a closed curve Γ such that it lies in Ω . It is enough to prove that

*
$$\oint_{\Gamma} \dot{w}(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = 0.$$
 (3.23)

From Definition 12 item (*a*) we get

$$* \oint_{\Gamma} \dot{w}(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} \dot{w}(z) dz + \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} -if(z) \dot{w}(z) dz.$$

Since $\dot{w}(z) = \varphi_z(z)f(z) + \psi_z(z)i/f(z)$, it follows that

$$* \oint_{\Gamma} \dot{w}(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} \left(\varphi_{z}(z) f(z) + \psi_{z}(z) \frac{i}{f(z)} \right) dz$$

$$+ \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} -if(z) \left(\varphi_{z}(z) f(z) + \psi_{z}(z) \frac{i}{f(z)} \right) dz$$

$$= \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\varphi_{z}(z) + \psi_{z}(z) \frac{i}{f^{2}(z)} \right) dz + \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(-i\varphi_{z}(z) f^{2}(z) + \psi_{z}(z) \right) dz$$

From (3.13) we have that $\varphi_z(z)f(z) = \psi_z(z)i/f(z)$. Then

By Theorem 1 we have that integrals in (3.24) are path-independent. Consequently, we get

$$\oint_{\Gamma} \dot{w}(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = 0$$

This completes the proof.

Corollary 6. Under the hypothesis that Proposition 10, we have that for $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ a rectifiable

curve from z_0 to z in Ω , the following equality is valid

$$\int_{\Gamma} \dot{w}(z) d_{(f,i/f)} z = w(z) - \varphi(z_0) f(z) - \psi(z_0) \frac{i}{f(z)}.$$
(3.25)

Formula (3.25) is known as the $(f, \frac{i}{f})$ -antiderivative of \dot{w} .

Proposition 11. Let $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous function where Ω is a simply connected domain. If v is (f, i/f)-integrable in Ω , then there exists a solution w of the main Vekua equation in Ω such that

$$v = rac{d_{(f,i/f)}w}{dz}$$
, in Ω .

Proof. Let $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0$ and z = x + iy both in Ω . Assume that v is $\left(f, \frac{i}{f}\right)$ -integrable. From Definition 12 item (a) we have that

$$*\int_{\Gamma} v(z)d_{(f,i/f)}z = \operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma}\frac{1}{f(z)}v(z)dz - i\operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma}if(z)v(z)dz,$$

where Γ a rectifiable curve leading from z_0 to z. Let us denote

$$\varphi(z) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} v(z) dz, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\psi(z) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} -if(z)v(z)dz.$$
(3.27)

Note that for (3.26) we get

$$\begin{split} \varphi(z) &= \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} v(z) dz \quad (3.28) \\ &= \frac{2}{2} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{f(z)} (v_1(z) + iv_2(z)) (dx + idy) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (2v_1(z) dx - 2v_2(z) dy) \quad (3.29) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (2v_1(z) dx + iv_1(z) dy - iv_1(z) dy) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (iv_2(z) dx - iv_2(z) dx - 2v_2(z) dy) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (v_1(z) dx + iv_1(z) dy + iv_2(z) dx - v_2(z) dy) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (v_1(z) dx - iv_1(z) dy - iv_2(z) dx - v_2(z) dy) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2f(z)} (v(z) dz + \overline{v}(z) d\overline{z}) \quad (3.30) \end{split}$$

Analogously, we have that (3.27) is equal to

$$\psi(z) = \int_{\Gamma} \frac{f(z)}{2i} (v(z)dz - \overline{v}(z)d\overline{z})$$
(3.31)

Taking ∂_z to (3.30) and (3.31) we get

$$\varphi_z(z) = \frac{v(z)}{2f(z)},\tag{3.32}$$

$$\psi_z(z) = \frac{f(z)v(z)}{2i}.$$
 (3.33)

Hence adding (3.32) and (3.33)

$$\varphi_z(z)f(z) + \psi_z \frac{i}{f(z)} = \frac{v(z)}{2f(z)}f(z) + \frac{f(z)v(z)}{2i}\frac{i}{f(z)} = v(z).$$
(3.34)

Then taking the conjugate to (3.32) and (3.33) and adding them we get

$$\varphi_{\overline{z}}(z)f(z) + \psi_{\overline{z}}(z)\frac{i}{f(z)} = \frac{\overline{v}(z)}{2f(z)}f(z) + \frac{if(z)\overline{v}(z)}{2}\frac{i}{f(z)} = 0$$

From Theorem 7 and (3.34) we have that $\dot{w} = v$. While, by Proposition 8 we have that \dot{w} is solution of the main Vekua equation. Therefore, by arbitrariness of z_0 and z the proof is done.

Corollary 7. Let a complex-valued function v a solution of the successor Vekua equation defined in a simply connected domain Ω . Then for $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0$ and z = x + iy in Ω we have that

$$w(z) = \int_{z_0}^z v(\zeta) d_{(f,i/f)} \zeta,$$

is a solution of the main Vekua equation in Ω *.*

Proposition 12. Let $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ where Ω is a simply connected domain. If v is a solution of the successor Vekua equation in Ω , then v is (f, i/f)-integrable in Ω .

Proof. Let us take $\Omega_1 \subseteq \Omega$. From Proposition 11 note that is enough to prove that if Ω_1 is a regular domain and $\overline{\Omega}_1 \subseteq \Omega$, then

*
$$\int_{\partial\Omega_1} v(z)_{d(f,i/f)} z = 0.$$
 (3.35)

By Definition 12 item (*a*), we have that

$$\operatorname{Re}\left(*\int_{\partial\Omega_1}v(z)d_{(f,i/f)}z\right) = \operatorname{Re}*\int_{\partial\Omega_1}\frac{1}{f(z)}v(z)dz,$$

and

$$\operatorname{Im}\left(*\int_{\partial\Omega_1}v(z)d_{(f,i/f)}z\right) = \operatorname{Re}*\int_{\partial\Omega_1}-if(z)v(z)dz.$$

From Theorem 4 we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\Omega_1} -if(z)v(z)dz &= -2i\int_{\Omega_1} (if(z)v(z))_{\overline{z}}dxy \\ &= 2i\int_{\Omega_1} (if_{\overline{z}}(z)v(z) + if(z)v_{\overline{z}}(z))dxdy \end{split}$$

Since v is solution of the successor Vekua equation, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\Omega_{1}} -if(z)v(z)dz &= -2i\int_{\Omega_{1}} \left(if_{\overline{z}}(z)v(z) - if_{z}(z)\overline{v}(z)\right)dxdy\\ &= -2i\int_{\Omega_{1}} \left(if_{\overline{z}}(z)v(z) + \overline{if_{\overline{z}}(z)v(z)}\right)dxdy\\ &= -2i\int_{\Omega_{1}} 2\operatorname{Re}(if_{\overline{z}}(z)\overline{v}(z))dxy\\ &= -4i\int_{\Omega_{1}} \operatorname{Re}(if_{\overline{z}}(z)\overline{v}(z))dxy. \end{split}$$
(3.36)

Note that (3.36) is pure imaginary hence

$$\operatorname{Re}\int_{\partial\Omega_1} -if(z)v(z) = 0. \tag{3.37}$$

Analogously, we obtain that

$$\operatorname{Re} \int_{\partial \Omega_1} \frac{1}{f(z)} v(z) = 0.$$
(3.38)

From (3.37) and (3.38), we have proved (3.35). Therefore, v is (f, i/f)-integrable.

Corollary 7 established a relation about how to pass from a solution of the successor Vekua equation to one of the main Vekua equation through an integration process. Moreover, by Propositions 12, 11, and 10 we obtain the following result

Corollary 8. Let $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ a solution of the successor Vekua equation in Ω where Ω is a

simply connected domain. Then every closed curve Γ situated in a subdomain of Ω satisfies

$$\operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \frac{v(z)}{f(z)} dz + i \operatorname{Im} \oint_{\Gamma} f(z) v(z) dz = 0.$$
(3.39)

Note that, Corollary 8 is a generalization of the well-known Cauchy Integral Theorem.

3.5 Formal Powers for the main Vekua equation

In complex analysis the nonnegative usual powers

$$\alpha(z-z_0)^n$$
, $n=0,1,2...$

are a system of analytic functions of great importance. For example, they allow us to expand an analytic function as a Taylor series. In this section we deal with the construction of a system of solutions of the main Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w}, \quad \text{in }\Omega,$$
(3.40)

that generalize in some sense the usual powers. We call it formal powers and denote it by

$$Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z), \quad n = 0, 1, 2...$$

Here $a \in \mathbb{C}$, $z_0 \in \Omega$, and $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ are parameters called the coefficient, center and grade of the formal power, respectively. The function $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ should be a solution of the main Vekua equation in the variable z and near the center it behaves like the usual powers, that is,

$$Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z) \sim a (z - z_0)^n$$
 as $z \to z_0$.

In this section we present an elegant method to construct explicitly the system of formal powers for (3.40) when *f* has a separable form, that is, when $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$. This method was proposed by L. Bers (see [2], [3], [7], and [5]) and it can be applied when we have at our disposal a special sequence of generating pairs called generating sequence.

3.5.1 Generating sequence. The special case $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$

Recall that by Proposition 9 we have that the (f, i/f)-derivative of a solution of the main Vekua equation is a solution of the successor Vekua equation. Motivated by this, we arrive at the following definition.

Definition 14. Let (F,G) and (F_1,G_1) be two generating pairs defined in Ω . We say that (F_1,G_1) is the successor of (F,G) if given a solution of the Vekua equation corresponding to (F,G) its (F,G)-derivative is a solution of the Vekua equation corresponding to (F_1,G_1) .

This process of constructing new generating pairs associated with the previous one via Vekua equations can be continued and we arrive naturally at the next definition.

Definition 15. A sequence of generating pairs $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$, $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, is called a generating sequence if (F_{m+1}, G_{m+1}) is a successor of (F_m, G_m) . Moreover, if $(F_0, G_0) = (F, G)$, we say that (F, G) is embedded in $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$.

Definition 16. A generating sequence $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$ has period $\mu > 0$ if $(F_{m+\mu}, G_{m+\mu}) = (F_m, G_m)$.

Let us consider the main Vekua equation (3.40) with $f(x,y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$ and the corresponding generating pair

$$\left(f,\frac{i}{f}\right) = \left(\sigma\tau,\frac{i}{\sigma\tau}\right). \tag{3.41}$$

Next we are going to construct a generating sequence embedding (3.41).

Proposition 13. Let $(F,G) = (\sigma\tau, i/\sigma\tau)$. Then $(F_1, G_1) = (\tau/\sigma, i\sigma/\tau)$ is the successor of (F,G).

Proof. Let us prove that (F_1, G_1) is a generating pair corresponding to the successor Vekua equation (3.18). Then

Step 1. Let us replace F_1 in (3.18). Then

(i)
$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\left(\frac{\tau}{\sigma}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i\partial_{y}\tau\sigma - \partial_{x}\sigma\tau}{\sigma^{2}}\right)$$

(ii) $-\frac{\partial_{z}f}{f}\left(\frac{\overline{\tau}}{\sigma}\right) = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\partial_{x}\sigma\tau - i\sigma\partial_{y}\tau}{\sigma\tau}\right)\left(\frac{\tau}{\sigma}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i\partial_{y}\tau\sigma - \partial_{x}\sigma\tau}{\sigma^{2}}\right)$

From (i) and (ii) F_1 satisfies (3.18).

(i)
$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \left(i \frac{\sigma}{\tau} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma \partial_y \tau + i \partial_x \sigma \tau}{\tau^2} \right)$$

(ii) $-\frac{\partial_z f}{f} \left(\overline{i \frac{\sigma}{\tau}} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_x \sigma \tau - i \sigma \partial_y \tau}{\sigma \tau} \right) \left(i \frac{\sigma}{\tau} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\sigma \partial_y \tau + i \partial_x \sigma \tau}{\tau^2} \right)$

From (i) and (ii) G_1 satisfies (3.18).

Step 3. Fix $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. Let $m = m_1 + im_2 \in \mathbb{C}$ we take $\lambda = m_1 \sigma(x_0) \tau(y_0)$ and $\beta = m_2/\sigma(x_0)\tau(y_0)$. Then

$$m = \lambda rac{1}{\sigma(x_0) \tau(y_0)} + i eta \sigma(x_0) \tau(y_0).$$

By Proposition 9 we have that (F_1, G_1) is the successor of (F, G). This completes the proof.

Next we are going to construct a successor for $(F_1, G_1) = (\tau / \sigma, i\sigma / \tau)$.

Proposition 14. The generating pair $(F_2, G_2) = (\sigma \tau, i/\sigma \tau)$ is the successor of $(F_1, G_1) = (\tau/\sigma, i\sigma/\tau)$.

Proof. To prove this is enough show that

$$\frac{\partial_{\bar{z}}f}{f} = -\frac{\partial_{z}\widetilde{f}}{\widetilde{f}},$$

where $\tilde{f} = \tau / \sigma$. Then

$$\frac{\partial_{\bar{z}}f}{f} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_x \sigma \tau + i\sigma \partial_y \tau}{\sigma \tau} \right)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial_z \widetilde{f}}{\widetilde{f}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{-\partial_x \sigma \tau - i\sigma \partial_y \tau}{\sigma^2} \right) \frac{\sigma}{\tau} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_x \sigma \tau + i\sigma \partial_y \tau}{\sigma \tau} \right)$$

Therefore, (F_2, G_2) is the successor of (F_1, G_1) .

Note that by Proposition 13 we have that $(F_3, G_3) = (\tau/\sigma, i\sigma/\tau)$ is the successor of $(F_2, G_2) = (\sigma\tau, i/\sigma\tau)$. Then, by construction we have proved the following proposition. **Proposition 15.** *The generating pair (3.41) is embedded in the generating sequence* $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$ *of period two given by*

$$(F,G) = \left(\sigma\tau, \frac{i}{\sigma\tau}\right), \quad (F_1,G_1) = \left(\frac{\tau}{\sigma}, i\frac{\sigma}{\tau}\right), \quad (F_2,G_2) = (F,G), \quad (F_3,G_3) = (F_1,G_1) \quad \dots$$

Mathematician

3.5.2 Definition and construction of formal powers

Let us consider the main Vekua equation (3.40) with $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$ and let $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$ be the corresponding generating sequence given in Proposition 15. Let us define:

Definition 17. The formal power with center at $z_0 \in \Omega$, coefficient $a \in \mathbb{C}$, and grade $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$ is given by

$$Z_{m}^{(0)}(a, z_{0}; z) = \lambda F_{m}(z) + \mu G_{m}(z) \quad such \ that \quad \lambda F_{m}(z_{0}) + \mu G_{m}(z_{0}) = a$$
(3.42)

and

$$Z_{m}^{(n)}(a, z_{0}; z) = n \int_{z_{0}}^{z} Z_{m+1}^{(n-1)}(a, z_{0}; \zeta) d_{(F_{m}, G_{m})}\zeta, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(3.43)

This definition implies the following properties:

- (a) $Z_m^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ is a solution of the Vekua equation corresponding to the generating pair (F_m, G_m) as function of z.
- (b) If a' and a'' are real constant, then

$$Z_{m}^{(n)}\left(a'+ia'',z_{0};z\right)=a'Z_{m}^{(n)}\left(1,z_{0};z\right)+a''Z_{m}^{(n)}\left(i,z_{0};z\right)$$

(c) The formal powers satisfy the following differential relation

$$\frac{d_{(F_m,G_m)}Z_m^{(n)}(a,z_0;z)}{dz} = nZ_{m+1}^{(n-1)}(a,z_0;z).$$

Remark 5. Note that from property (b) the formal power $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ can be written through $Z^{(n)}(1, z_0; z)$ and $Z^{(n)}(i, z_0; z)$. Therefore, it is enough calculate only these two formal powers for any grade n and center z_0 .

The case $f(x, y) = \tau(y)$

Consider the main Vekua equation (3.40) with $f(x, y) = \tau(y)$ and let $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$ be the corresponding generating sequence given in Proposition 15. For this case is easy to see that the generating sequence has period one, that is,

$$(F,G) = \left(\tau, \frac{i}{\tau}\right), \quad (F_1,G_1) = (F,G), \quad (F_2,G_2) = (F,G), \quad \dots$$

and the main Vekua equation take the following form

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{i\tau_y}{2\tau}\overline{w}.\tag{3.44}$$

In this subsection we consider the formal powers with the center at the point $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. We assume that $\tau(y_0) = 1$ and define the system of functions $\widetilde{Y}^{(n)}$ and $Y^{(n)}$ constructed in terms of τ through the following recursive relations

$$Y^{(0)} \equiv 1, \quad \widetilde{Y}^{(0)} \equiv 1,$$
 (3.45)

$$Y^{(n)}(y) = \begin{cases} n \int_{y_0}^{y} Y^{(n-1)}(\eta) \tau^2(\eta) d\eta, & n \text{ odd,} \\ n \int_{y_0}^{y} Y^{(n-1)}(\eta) \frac{d\eta}{\tau^2(\eta)}, & n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(3.46)

$$\widetilde{Y}^{(n)}(y) = \begin{cases} n \int_{y_0}^{y} \widetilde{Y}^{(n-1)}(\eta) \frac{d\eta}{\tau^2(\eta)}, & n \text{ odd,} \\ n \int_{y_0}^{y} \widetilde{Y}^{(n-1)}(\eta) \tau^2(\eta) d\eta, & n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(3.47)

Remark 6. If τ is chosen as $\tau \equiv 1$, then $\Upsilon^{(n)}(y) = \widetilde{\Upsilon}^{(n)}(y) = y^n$ are the usual powers.

Let us calculate $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ of² grades n = 0, 1, 2 for the Vekua equation (3.44) where $a = a_1 + ia_2 \in \mathbb{C}$. From Definition 17 property (b) we need calculate $Z^{(n)}(1, z_0; z)$ and $Z^{(n)}(i, z_0; z)$. By formula (3.42) and since $\tau(y_0) = 1$ it is easy to see that

$$Z^{(0)}(1,z_0;z) = au(y) \quad ext{and} \quad Z^{(0)}(i,z_0;z) = rac{i}{ au(y)}.$$

In order to construct $Z^{(1)}(\alpha, z_0; z)$ for $\alpha = 1, i$ recall that $(F_m, G_m) = (\tau, i/\tau)$ for any m in \mathbb{Z} . Then formula (3.43) give us

$$Z^{(1)}(\alpha, z_0; z) = \int_{z_0}^{z} Z^{(0)}(\alpha, z_0; \zeta) d_{(f, i/f)}\zeta, \quad \alpha = 1, i.$$

We calculate these two integrals using (3.21). Denoting $\zeta := \kappa + i\xi$ we get

$$Z^{(1)}(1,z_0;z) = \tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^z d\zeta - \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^z i\tau^2(\kappa) d\zeta$$

²The absence of the subindice m means that all the formal powers correspond to the same generator pair.

$$= \tau(y) \int_{z_0}^z d\kappa + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^z \tau^2(\xi) d\xi$$

We use the curve Γ from $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0$ to z = x + iy which consists of $\Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_2$ parameterized by

$$\gamma_1(t) = (t, y_0) \text{ for } x_0 \le t \le x \text{ and } \gamma_2(t) = (x, t) \text{ for } y_0 \le t \le y,$$
 (3.48)

respectively. Then, we get

$$Z^{(1)}(1, z_0; z) = \tau(y) \int_{x_0}^x d\kappa + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \int_{y_0}^y \tau^2(\xi) d\xi$$

= $\tau(y)(x - x_0) + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} Y^{(1)}(y)$
= $\tau(y) {1 \choose 0} (x - x_0) + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} {1 \choose 1} Y^{(1)}(y)$

Similarly,

$$Z^{(1)}(i, z_0; z) = \tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{i}{\tau^2(\xi)} d\zeta + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} d\zeta$$
$$= -\tau(y) \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{1}{\tau^2(\xi)} d\xi + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^{z} d\kappa$$

using (3.48) we obtain

$$Z^{(1)}(i, z_0; z) = -\tau(y) \int_{y_0}^y \frac{1}{\tau^2(\xi)} d\xi + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \int_{x_0}^x d\kappa$$
$$= \tau(y) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} (x - x_0)$$

Analogously we construct $Z^{(2)}(\alpha, z_0; z)$ for $\alpha = 1, i$. By formula (3.43) we get

$$Z^{(2)}(\alpha, z_0; z) = 2 \int_{z_0}^{z} Z^{(1)}(\alpha, z_0; \zeta) d_{(f, i/f)} \zeta, \quad \alpha = 1, i.$$

We calculate these two integrals using (*b*). Then

$$Z^{(2)}(1, z_0; z) = 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{1}{\tau(\xi)} \left[\tau(\xi)(\kappa - x_0) + \frac{i}{\tau(\xi)} Y^{(1)}(\xi) \right] d\zeta - \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} i\tau(\xi) \left[\tau(\xi)(\kappa - x_0) + \frac{i}{\tau(\xi)} Y^{(1)}(\xi) \right] d\zeta$$

$$= 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} (\kappa - x_0) d\zeta + 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{i}{\tau^2(\xi)} Y^{(1)}(\xi) d\zeta$$

$$- \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} i\tau^2(\xi)(\kappa - x_0) d\zeta + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} Y^{(1)}(\xi) d\zeta$$

$$= 2\tau(y) \int_{z_0}^{z} (\kappa - x_0) d\kappa - 2\tau(y) \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{1}{\tau^2(\xi)} Y^{(1)}(\xi) d\xi$$

$$+ \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^{z} \tau^2(\xi)(\kappa - x_0) d\xi + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^{z} Y^{(1)}(\xi) d\kappa$$

Using (3.48) we obtain

$$Z^{(2)}(1,z_0;z) = 2\tau(y) \int_{x_0}^x (t-x_0)dt - 2\tau(y) \int_{y_0}^y \frac{1}{\tau^2(t)} Y^{(1)}(t)dt + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} (x-x_0) \int_{y_0}^y \tau^2(t)dt + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \int_{y_0}^y Y^{(1)}(y_0)dt = \tau(y)(x-x_0)^2 - \tau(y)Y^{(2)}(y) + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} (x-x_0)Y^{(1)}(y) = \tau(y)(x-x_0)^2 + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} (x-x_0)Y^{(1)}(y) - \tau(y)Y^{(2)}(y) = \tau(y) \binom{2}{0} (x-x_0)^2 + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \binom{2}{1} (x-x_0)Y^{(1)}(y) - \tau(y) \binom{2}{2} Y^{(2)}(y)$$

Similarly, we calculate

$$Z^{(2)}(i, z_0; z) = 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{1}{\tau(\xi)} \left[-\tau(\xi) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) + \frac{i}{\tau(\xi)} (\kappa - x_0) \right] d\xi$$

$$- \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} i\tau(\xi) \left[-\tau_0 \tau(\xi) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) + \frac{i\tau_0}{\tau(\xi)} (\kappa - x_0) \right] d\zeta$$

$$= 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} -\widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) d\xi + 2\tau(y) \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{i}{\tau^2(\xi)} (\kappa - x_0) d\zeta$$

$$+ \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} i\tau^2(\xi) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) d\zeta + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Re} \int_{z_0}^{z} (\kappa - x_0) d\zeta$$

$$= -2\tau(y) \int_{z_0}^{z} \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) d\kappa - 2\tau(y) \int_{z_0}^{z} \frac{1}{\tau^2(\xi)} (\kappa - x_0) d\xi$$

$$- \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^{z} \tau^2(\xi) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(\xi) d\xi + \frac{2i}{\tau(y)} \int_{z_0}^{z} (\kappa - x_0) d\kappa$$

Using (3.48) we obtain

$$Z^{(2)}(i,z_0;z) = -2\tau(y) \int_{y_0}^{y} Y^{(1)}(y_0) dt - 2\tau(y)(x-x_0) \int_{y_0}^{y} \frac{1}{\tau^2(t)} dt - \frac{2i\tau_0}{\tau(y)} \int_{y_0}^{y} \tau^2(t) \widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(t) dt + \frac{2i\tau_0}{\tau(y)} \int_{x_0}^{x} (t-x_0) dt$$

$$= -2\tau(y)(x - x_0)\widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - \frac{i}{\tau(y)}\widetilde{Y}^{(2)}(y) + \frac{i}{\tau(y)}(x - x_0)^2$$

$$= \frac{i}{\tau(y)}(x - x_0)^2 - 2\tau(y)(x - x_0)\widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - \frac{i}{\tau(y)}\widetilde{Y}^{(2)}(y)$$

$$= \frac{i}{\tau(y)}\binom{2}{0}(x - x_0)^2 - \tau(y)\binom{2}{1}(x - x_0)\widetilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - \frac{i}{\tau(y)}\binom{2}{2}\widetilde{Y}^{(2)}(y)$$

By construction, the formal powers $Z^{(n)}$ computed previously are indeed solutions of the Vekua equation (3.44). Following the previous reasoning, to calculate formal powers, we arrive to the next proposition.

Proposition 16. For $a = a' + ia'' \in \mathbb{C}$ and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$ we have that $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ is given by

$$Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z) = \tau(y) \operatorname{Re}_* Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z) + \frac{i}{\tau(y)} \operatorname{Im}_* Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z)$$
(3.49)

where

$${}_{*}Z^{(n)}(a,z_{0};z) = a'\sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} (x-x_{0})^{(n-j)} i^{j} Y^{(j)} + ia'' \sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} (x-x_{0})^{(n-j)} i^{j} \widetilde{Y}^{(j)}.$$
 (3.50)

The proof of this proposition is achieved by induction on *n*. Now, we give an example of constructed formal powers.

Example 2. Consider the Yukawa equation

$$\left(-\Delta+c^2\right)u=0,\tag{3.51}$$

where is c a real constant. For (3.51) let us take a particular solution $f = e^{cy}$. The corresponding Vekua equation has the form

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{ic}{2}\overline{w}.\tag{3.52}$$

For this case the generating pair $(F, G) = (e^{cy}, ie^{-cy})$ is embedded into a sequence of period one, i.e., $(F_m, G_m) = (F, G)$ for any $m \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let us construct the first two formal powers with center at the origin. Then

•
$$Z^{(0)}(1,0;z) = e^{cy}$$

•
$$Z^{(0)}(i,0;z) = ie^{-cy}$$

•
$$Z^{(1)}(1,0;z) = e^{cy} \operatorname{Re} \left(x + iY^{(1)}(y) \right) + ie^{-cy} \operatorname{Im} \left(x + iY^{(1)}(y) \right)$$

 $= xe^{cy} + ie^{-cy} Y^{(1)}(y)$
 $= xe^{cy} + ie^{-cy} \left(\frac{e^{2cy} - 1}{2c} \right)$
 $= xe^{cy} + ie^{-cy} \left(\frac{e^{2cy} - 1}{2c} \right)$
 $= xe^{cy} + \frac{i \sinh(cy)}{c}$
• $Z^{(1)}(i,0;z) = e^{cy} \operatorname{Re} \left(ix - \tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) \right) + ie^{-cy} \operatorname{Im} \left(ix - \tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) \right)$
 $= ixe^{-cy} - e^{cy} \tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y)$
 $= ixe^{-cy} - e^{cy} \int_{0}^{y} e^{-2cy} d\eta$
 $= ixe^{-cy} - e^{cy} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-2cy}}{2c} \right)$
 $= ixe^{-cy} - \frac{\sinh(cy)}{c}$
• $Z^{(2)}(1,0;z) = e^{cy} \operatorname{Re} \left(x^{2} + 2xiY^{(1)}(y) - Y^{(2)}(y) \right)$
 $+ ie^{-cy} \operatorname{Im} \left(x^{2} + 2xiY^{(1)}(y) - Y^{(2)}(y) \right)$
 $= x^{2}e^{cy} - e^{cy} \left(\left(\frac{e^{-2cy} - 1}{2c^{2}} \right) + \frac{y}{c} \right) + 2xie^{-cy} \left(\frac{e^{2cy} - 1}{2c} \right)$
 $= \left(x^{2} - \frac{y}{c} \right) e^{cy} + \frac{2xi\sinh(cy)}{c} + \frac{\sinh(cy)}{c^{2}}$
• $Z^{(2)}(i,0;z) = e^{cy} \operatorname{Re} \left(ix - 2x\tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - i\tilde{Y}^{(2)}(y) \right)$
 $+ ie^{-cy} \operatorname{Im} \left(ix - 2x\tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - i\tilde{Y}^{(2)}(y) \right)$
 $+ ie^{-cy} \operatorname{Im} \left(ix - 2x\tilde{Y}^{(1)}(y) - i\tilde{Y}^{(2)}(y) \right)$
 $= 2x^{2}e^{cy} Y^{(1)}(y) + ixe^{-cy} - ie^{-cy}\tilde{Y}^{(2)}(y)$
 $= ix^{2}e^{-cy} - 2xe^{cy} \left(\frac{1 - e^{-2cy}}{2c} \right) - ie^{-cy} \left(\frac{e^{2cy} - 1}{2c^{2}} - \frac{y}{c} \right)$
 $= i \left(\left(x^{2} + \frac{y}{c} \right) e^{-cy} - \frac{\sinh(cy)}{c^{2}} \right) - \frac{2x\sinh(cy)}{c}$

Note each of these function is a solution of (3.52). Taking real parts of formal powers we obtain a infinite system of solutions of the Yukawa equation

$$u_0(x,y) = e^{cy}, \quad u_1(x,y) = xe^{cy}, \quad u_2(x,y) = -\frac{\sinh(cy)}{c},$$

$$u_3(x,y) = \left(x^2 - \frac{y}{c}\right)e^{cy} + \frac{\sinh(cy)}{c^2}, \quad u_4(x,y) = -2x\frac{\sinh(cy)}{c}\dots$$

The case $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$

Consider the main Vekua equation (3.40) with $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$ and let $\{(F_m, G_m)\}$ be the corresponding generating sequence given in Proposition 15. For this case we know that the generating sequence has period two and the main Vekua equation take the following form

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \left(\frac{\sigma_x \tau + i\sigma \tau_y}{2\sigma \tau}\right)\overline{w} \tag{3.53}$$

In this subsection we consider the formal powers with the centre at the point $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$. We assume that $\sigma(x_0) = \tau(y_0) = 1$ and define the system of functions $X^{(n)}$ and $\widetilde{X}^{(n)}$ constructed in terms of σ through the following recursive relations

$$X^{(0)} \equiv 1, \quad \tilde{X}^{(0)} \equiv 1,$$
 (3.54)

$$X^{(n)}(x) = \begin{cases} n \int_{x_0}^x X^{(n-1)}(\eta) \frac{d\eta}{\sigma^2(\eta)}, & n \text{ odd,} \\ n \int_{x_0}^x X^{(n-1)}(\eta) \sigma^2(\eta) d\eta, & n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(3.55)

$$\widetilde{X}^{(n)}(x) = \begin{cases} n \int_{x_0}^x \widetilde{X}^{(n-1)}(\eta) \sigma^2(\eta) d\eta, & n \text{ odd,} \\ n \int_{y_0}^y \widetilde{X}^{(n-1)}(\eta) \frac{d\eta}{\sigma^2(\eta)}, & n \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$
(3.56)

Remark 7. If σ is chosen as $\sigma \equiv 1$, then $X^{(n)}(x) = \widetilde{X}^{(n)}(x) = x^n$ are the usual powers.

Now, we generalize Proposition 16 when $f(x, y) = \sigma(x)\tau(y)$.

Proposition 17. For $a = a' + ia'' \in \mathbb{C}$ and $z_0 = x_0 + iy_0 \in \Omega$ we have that $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0; z)$ is given by

$$Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z) = \sigma(x)\tau(y) \operatorname{Re}_* Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z) + \frac{i}{\sigma(x)\tau(y)} \operatorname{Im}_* Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z)$$
(3.57)

where

$${}_{*}Z^{(n)}(a,z_{0},z) = a'\sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} X^{(n-j)} i^{j} Y^{(j)} + ia'' \sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} \widetilde{X}^{(n-j)} i^{j} \widetilde{Y}^{(j)}, \quad n \text{ odd}$$

and

$${}_{*}Z^{(n)}(a,z_{0},z) = a'\sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} \widetilde{X}^{(n-j)} i^{j} Y^{(j)} + ia'' \sum_{j=0}^{n} \binom{n}{j} X^{(n-j)} i^{j} \widetilde{Y}^{(j)}, \quad n \ even.$$

The proof of this proposition can be achieved by induction on n.

Remark 8. If we choose $\sigma \equiv 1$ and $\tau \equiv 1$ formula (3.57) generalized the binomial representation of the analytic powers, i.e., $Z^{(n)}(a, z_0, z) = a(z - z_0)^n$.

3.6 Connection between the main Vekua equation and the two-dimensional stationary Schödinger equation

Let us consider the stationary Schödinger equation

$$(-\Delta + \nu) u = 0, \quad \text{in } \Omega, \tag{3.58}$$

where $\Delta = \partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2$ and $\nu \in C(\Omega)$ is a real-valued function. In the following theorem we establish the complex factorization of the stationary Schödinger operator in terms of Vekua type operators.

Theorem 8. Let f be a particular nonvanishing solution of (3.58) in Ω and denote by C the complex conjugation operator. Then

$$\frac{1}{4}(\Delta - \nu)\varphi = \left(\partial_z + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\right)\left(\partial_{\bar{z}} - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\right)\varphi,\tag{3.59}$$

for all real-valued function $\varphi \in C^2(\Omega)$.

Proof. Let φ be a real valued twice continuously differentiable function. Then, we get

$$\begin{split} \left(\partial_{z} + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\right) \left(\partial_{\bar{z}} - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\right) \varphi &= \left(\partial_{z}\partial_{\bar{z}} - \partial_{z}\frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\partial_{\bar{z}} - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}Cf_{\bar{z}}C}{f^{2}}\right) \varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4}\Delta\varphi - \partial_{z}\frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\varphi + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\partial_{z}\varphi - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}f_{z}}{f^{2}}\varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4}\Delta\varphi - \left(\left(\partial_{z}\frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\right)\varphi + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\partial_{z}\varphi\right) + \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\partial_{z}\varphi - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}f_{z}}{f^{2}}\varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4}\Delta\varphi - \left(\partial_{z}\frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\right)\varphi - \frac{f_{z}f_{z}}{f^{2}}\varphi \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{4} \Delta \varphi - \left(\frac{(\frac{\Delta}{4}f)f - f_{\bar{z}}f_z}{f^2} \right) \varphi - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}f_z}{f^2} \varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \Delta \varphi - \left(\frac{(\Delta f)f}{4f^2} - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}f_z}{f^2} \right) \varphi - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}f_z}{f^2} \varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \Delta \varphi - \frac{1}{4} \frac{(\Delta f)f}{f^2} \varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \Delta \varphi - \frac{1}{4} \frac{\Delta f}{f} \varphi \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \left(\Delta - \nu \right) \varphi \end{split}$$

Since φ was taken arbitrarily, we have proved (3.59).

Note that the kernel of the first operator appearing on the previous factorization, that is $ker\left(\partial_{\bar{z}} - \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}C\right)$, is formed by the solutions of the main Vekua equation.

Proposition 18. Let f be a nonvanishing solution of the Schrödinguer equation (3.58) in Ω . If w is a solution of the main Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}w = \frac{f_{\bar{z}}}{f}\overline{w},$$

then we have:

(a)
$$u = Re(w)$$
 is solution of
 $(-\Delta + q_1) u = 0$, in Ω

where $q_1 = \Delta f / f$.

(b) v = Im(w) is solution of

$$(-\Delta + q_2) v = 0$$
, in Ω ,

where $q_2 = 2(f_x^2 + f_y^2)/f^2 - q_1$.

See Kravchenko [8, Prop. 19, pp. 3955] for a proof.

Chapter 4

On the main matrix Vekua equation

In this Chapter we shall generalized some results of Chapter 3 for the main Vekua equation in its matrix form. We will mainly deal with the results regarding differentiation and integration.

4.1 Main matrix Vekua equation

Let $\mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{K})$ be the set of $n \times n$ matrices with entries in \mathbb{K} ($\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ or $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$) and let Ω be an open set in \mathbb{C} . By a matrix function we mean an application $V : \Omega \to \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{K})$ and by $C_{n \times n}^k(\Omega)$ we denote the class of matrix functions having $C^k(\Omega)$ entries. Analogous to Chapter 3 we study an important special Vekua equation called the main matrix Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}W = (\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{W}, \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
(4.1)

where $F \in C^2_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ is a given invertible real matrix function in Ω and $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ is the unknown matrix function.

Definition 18. Let *F* and *G* be $n \times n$ invertible matrix functions defined in Ω . We say that *G* is compatible with *F* if

$$G^{T}\partial_{\bar{z}}F - (\partial_{\bar{z}}G^{T})F = 0. \quad in \ \Omega.$$
(4.2)

Remark 9. Note that equation (4.2) also works for ∂_z .

4.2 Matrix generating pair

Definition 19. Let F and G be $n \times n$ complex invertible matrix functions defined in Ω . We say that (F, G) is a generating pair corresponding to (4.1) if

(a) $F, G \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ and they are solutions of (4.1).

(b) For $z_0 \in \Omega$ we have that

$$\forall M \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C}), \exists \Lambda, B \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}): \quad M = F(z_0)\Lambda + G(z_0)B.$$

Similarly to the complex case, we can construct a generating pair for the main matrix Vekua equation in explicit form, as we explain next.

Proposition 19. Let *F* and *G* be an $n \times n$ invertible nonvanishing real-valued matrix functions defined in Ω such that *G* is compatible with *F*. Then, $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ is a generating pair corresponding to the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1).

Proof. This proof is performed in the following steps:

Step 1. By replacing *F* in (4.1) we trivially obtain that *F* is solution of (4.1).

Step 2. By replacing $i(G^{-1})^T$ in (4.1) we get:

(a) In the left term

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}(i(G^{-1})^T) = -i(G^{-1})^T \partial_{\bar{z}} G^T (G^{-1})^T$$
(4.3)

(b) In the right term

$$(\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{(i(G^{-1})^T)} = -i(\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1}(G^{-1})^T$$

Since *G* is compatible with *F*, by (4.2) we have that $(\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1} = (G^{-1})^T \partial_{\bar{z}}G^T$. Then

$$(\partial_{\bar{z}}F)F^{-1}\overline{(i(G^{-1})^T)} = -i(G^{-1})^T\partial_{\bar{z}}G^T(G^{-1})^T$$

$$(4.4)$$

Thus, from (4.3) and (4.4) we have proved that $i(G^{-1})^T$ is solution of (4.1).

Step 3. Let $z_0 \in \Omega$. Let us take any $M \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C})$ and denote $\operatorname{Re}(M) = M_1$ and $\operatorname{Im}(M) = M_2$. We choose $\Lambda = F^{-1}(z_0)M_1$ and $B = G^T(z_0)M_2$. Then

$$M = F(z_0)\Lambda + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T B.$$

By arbitrariness of *M* we have that it has a representation through the generating pair $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$. Therefore from previous steps we have proved that $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ is a generating pair for (4.1).

4.3 Differentiation with respect to generating pair $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$

Throughout the rest of this chapter consider the generating pair $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ corresponding to the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) given as in Proposition 19. Let *W* an arbitrary $n \times n$ matrix function defined in Ω . With the help of the generating pair $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$, by analogy to the complex case, we have that *W* can be written as

$$W = FY + i(G^{-1})^T \Psi, \quad \text{in } \Omega, \tag{4.5}$$

where $Y = F^{-1} \operatorname{Re}(W)$ and $\Psi = G^T \operatorname{Im}(W)$ are $n \times n$ real-valued matrix functions. Now, we introduce the concept of $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative. Formally, we get

Definition 20. Let W be an $n \times n$ complex matrix function defined in Ω and $z_0 \in \Omega$. We say that W has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at z_0 if the following limit

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{W(z) - \left(F(z)Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \Psi(z_0)\right)}{z - z_0}$$
(4.6)

exists and is finite.

If \dot{W} exists everywhere in Ω , we say that W is $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -pseudoanalytic of first kind on Ω (or simply pseudoanalytic if there is no confusion). The following auxiliary complex matrix function (for a fixed z_0 in Ω)

$$\tilde{W} := W - \left(FY(z_0) + i(G^{-1})^T \Psi(z_0) \right), \quad \text{in } \Omega,$$
(4.7)

will be useful for what follows next.

Proposition 20. An $n \times n$ complex matrix function W defined in Ω has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ derivative at $z_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if an $n \times n$ complex matrix \tilde{W} given by (4.7) has complex derivative at z_0 . Moreover, $\dot{W}(z_0) = \tilde{W}'(z_0)$.

Proof. Assume that *W* has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at z_0 , that is,

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{W(z) - (F(z)Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \Psi(z_0))}{z - z_0}.$$

From (4.7) we get $\tilde{W}(z_0) = 0$, it follows that

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\tilde{W}(z)}{z - z_0} = \lim_{z \to z_0} \frac{\tilde{W}(z) - \tilde{W}(z_0)}{z - z_0}.$$

Then, $\dot{W}(z_0) = \tilde{W}'(z_0)$. Conversely, the other direction is clear.

Corollary 9. Let an $n \times n$ complex matrix function $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ and $z_0 \in \Omega$. If W has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative, then for \tilde{W} given by (4.7) we have:

- (a) By previous Proposition \tilde{W} has complex derivative at z_0 . Thus \tilde{W} satisfies the Cauchy-Riemann equations at z_0 , which is equivalent to $\partial_{\tilde{z}}\tilde{W}(z_0) = 0$.
- (b) The complex derivative of \tilde{W} at z_0 is computed by $\partial_z \tilde{W}(z_0)$.

Proof. We denote $\operatorname{Re}(\tilde{W}) = U$ and $\operatorname{Im}(\tilde{W}) = V$. Let us prove (*a*). Then

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\bar{z}} \tilde{W}(z) &= \partial_{\bar{z}} \left(U(z) + iV(z) \right) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} U(z) + i \partial_{\bar{z}} V(z) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x + i \partial_y) U(z) + \frac{i}{2} (\partial_x + i \partial_y) V(z) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \partial_x U(z) + \frac{i}{2} \partial_y U(z) + \frac{i}{2} \partial_x V(z) - \frac{1}{2} \partial_y V(z) \end{aligned}$$

assuming that $\partial_{\overline{z}} \tilde{W}(z_0) = 0$ we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_x U(z_0) + \frac{i}{2}\partial_y U(z_0) + \frac{i}{2}\partial_x V(z_0) - \frac{1}{2}\partial_y V(z_0) = 0.$$

It follows that

$$\partial_x U(z_0) = \partial_y V(z_0)$$
 and $\partial_y U(z_0) = -\partial_x V(z_0)$.

Conversely, the other direction is straightforward. Now, let us prove (*b*). Proceeding similarly to the previous item we get

$$\partial_z \tilde{W}(z_0) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_x U(z_0) - \frac{i}{2} \partial_y U(z_0) + \frac{i}{2} \partial_x V(z_0) + \frac{1}{2} \partial_y V(z_0)$$

this means

$$\partial_z \tilde{w}_{ij}(z_0) = \frac{1}{2} \partial_x u_{ij}(z_0) - \frac{i}{2} \partial_y u_{ij}(z_0) + \frac{i}{2} \partial_x v_{ij}(z_0) + \frac{1}{2} \partial_y v_{ij}(z_0), \quad \forall i, j \in \mathbb{N}^1.$$
(4.8)

 ${}^{1}\tilde{w}_{ij}$, u_{ij} , and v_{ij} represent the *i*, *j*-th entry of \tilde{W} , U, and V, respectively.

Assume that \tilde{W} has complex derivative at z_0 . This means that each entry of \tilde{W} satisfies Corollary 3 at z_0 , that is,

$$\tilde{w}'_{ij}(z_0) = \partial_x u_{ij}(z_0) + i \partial_x v_{ij}(z_0) = \partial_y v_{ij}(z_0) - i \partial_y u_{ij}(z_0), \quad \forall i, j \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(4.9)

From (4.8) and (4.9) we get

$$\partial_z \tilde{w}_{ij}(z_0) = \tilde{w}'_{ij}(z_0), \quad \forall i, j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\partial_z \tilde{W}(z_0) = \tilde{W}'(z_0).$$

This completes the proof.

Theorem 9. Let an $n \times n$ complex matrix function $W = FY + i(G^{-1})^T \Psi \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ and $z_0 \in \Omega$. Then, W has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at z_0 if and only if

$$F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}}\mathbf{Y}(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z_0) = 0.$$
(4.10)

Moreover, we have that

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = F(z_0)\partial_z Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_z \Psi(z_0).$$

Proof. Let us consider the $n \times n$ complex matrix function $\tilde{W}(z)$ given by (4.7), that is,

$$\tilde{W}(z) = W(z) - \left(F(z)Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \Psi(z_0)\right)$$

Note that

$$\tilde{W}(z) = F(z)(Y(z) - Y(z_0)) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T(\Psi(z) - \Psi(z_0))$$

Then, applying $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\bar{z}} \tilde{W}(z) = &\partial_{\bar{z}} \left((F(z)(\Upsilon(z) - \Upsilon(z_0)) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T (\Psi(z) - \Psi(z_0)) \right) \\ = &\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)(\Upsilon(z) - \Upsilon(z_0)) + F(z) \partial_{\bar{z}} \Upsilon(z) + i \partial_{\bar{z}} (G^{-1}(z))^T (\Psi(z) - \Psi(z_0)) \\ &+ i (G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z) \end{aligned}$$

evaluating at z_0 we get

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\tilde{W}(z_0) = F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}}Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z_0).$$
(4.11)

Mathematician

In a similar way we get

$$\partial_z \tilde{W}(z_0) = F(z_0) \partial_z Y(z_0) + i (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_z \Psi(z_0).$$
(4.12)

Assume that \tilde{W} has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at z_0 . Then, from Corollary 9 follows that $\partial_{\tilde{z}}\tilde{W}(z_0) = 0$, joining this with (4.11) we get

$$F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}}\Upsilon(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z_0) = 0.$$

Moreover, again by item (b) of Corollary 9 and Proposition 20 we get

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = F(z_0)\partial_z Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_z \Psi(z_0).$$

Conversely, if (4.10) holds then by (4.11) we have that $\partial_{\bar{z}}\tilde{W}(z_0) = 0$ and from (4.12) we get $\tilde{W}'(z_0) = \dot{W}(z_0)$. This completes the proof.

Corollary 10. Under the conditions of Theorem 9 we have that

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = \partial_z W(z_0) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) \overline{W}(z_0).$$

Proof. By equation (4.12) we get

$$\partial_z \widetilde{W}(z_0) = F(z_0) \partial_z Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_z \Psi(z_0)$$

Let us denote $\text{Re}(W) = W_1$ and $\text{Im}(W) = W_2$. From equation (4.5) we get

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{z}\widetilde{W}(z_{0}) &= F(z_{0})\partial_{z}(F^{-1}(z_{0})W_{1}(z_{0})) + i(G^{-1}(z_{0}))^{T}\partial_{z}(G^{T}(z_{0})W_{2}(z_{0})) \\ &= F(z_{0})(-F^{-1}(z_{0})(\partial_{z}F(z_{0}))F^{-1}(z_{0})W_{1}(z_{0}) + F^{-1}(z_{0})\partial_{z}W_{1}(z_{0})) \\ &+ i(G^{-1}(z_{0}))^{T}((\partial_{z}G^{T}(z_{0}))W_{2}(z_{0}) + G^{T}(z_{0})\partial_{z}W_{2}(z_{0})) \\ &= -(\partial_{z}F(z_{0}))F^{-1}(z_{0})W_{1}(z_{0}) + \partial_{z}W_{1}(z_{0}) + i(G^{-1}(z_{0}))^{T}(\partial_{z}G^{T}(z_{0}))W_{2}(z_{0}) \\ &+ i\partial_{z}W_{2}(z_{0}) \end{aligned}$$

By Remark 9 we have that $(G^{-1}(z_0))^T = (\partial_z F(z_0))F^{-1}(z_0)\partial_z (G^{-1}(z_0))^T$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_z \widetilde{W}(z_0) &= \partial_z W_1(z_0) + i \partial_z W_2(z_0) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) W_1(z_0) \\ &+ i (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) \partial_z (G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_z G^T(z_0)) W_2(z_0) \\ &= \partial_z (W_1(z_0) + i W_2(z_0)) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) W_1(z_0) + i (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) W_2(z_0) \\ &= \partial_z (W_1(z_0) + i W_2(z_0)) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) (W_1(z_0) - i W_2(z_0)) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \partial_z W(z_0) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) \overline{W}(z_0)$$

From Corollary 9 item (b) and Proposition 20 we get

$$\dot{W}(z_0) = \partial_z W(z_0) - (\partial_z F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) \overline{W}(z_0).$$

Proposition 21. An $n \times n$ complex matrix function $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at $z_0 \in \Omega$ if and only if it satisfies the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) at z_0 .

Proof. Assume that *W* has $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative at z_0 . From Theorem 9 we get

$$0 = F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z_0).$$

Note that

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z_0) + (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \\ &- i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) \\ &= (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) + F(z_0) \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z_0) - i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) \\ &+ i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \\ &= (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) + F(z_0) \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z_0) + i \partial_{\bar{z}} (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z_0) \\ &+ i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \end{aligned}$$

from Definition 18 note that $(\partial_{\bar{z}}F(z))F^{-1}(z) = i(G^{-1}(z))^T\partial_{\bar{z}}G^T$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^T(z_0)) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) + i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) Y(z_0) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) + i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) (G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) F(z_0) Y(z_0) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) (F(z_0) Y(z_0) - i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \Psi(z_0)) \\ &= \partial_{\bar{z}} W(z_0) - (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z_0)) F^{-1}(z_0) \overline{W}(z_0) \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}W(z_0) = (\partial_{\bar{z}}F(z_0))F^{-1}(z_0)\overline{W}(z_0).$$

Conversely, we assume that W satisfies the main matrix Vekua equation at z_0 . By the

previous direction we easily obtain that

$$F(z_0)\partial_{\bar{z}}Y(z_0) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z_0) = 0,$$

and the result follows from Theorem 9.

Corollary 11. Under the conditions of Proposition 21, $W \in C^1_{n \times n}(\Omega)$ is a solution of the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) in Ω if and only if

$$F\partial_{\bar{z}}\mathbf{Y} + i(G^{-1})^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi = 0, \quad in \ \Omega.$$
(4.13)

Proposition 22. If an $n \times n$ matrix function W defined in Ω is a solution of the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) in Ω , then the $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative of W is a solution of the following Vekua equation

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\dot{W} = -(\partial_{z}F)F^{-1}\dot{W}, \quad in \ \Omega.$$
(4.14)

Proof. Let $z \in \Omega$. Since *W* is solution of the main matrix Vekua equation at *z*, we have that

$$\dot{W}(z) = F(z)\partial_z Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z).$$
(4.15)

By Corollary 11 we get

$$F(z)\partial_{\overline{z}}Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z_0))^T \partial_{\overline{z}}\Psi(z) = 0.$$

$$(4.16)$$

Taking the conjugate to (4.16), we have that

$$F(z)\partial_{z}Y(z) - i(G^{-1}(z))^{T}\partial_{z}\Psi(z) = 0.$$
(4.17)

Solving (4.15) and (4.17) we get

$$\partial_z \Upsilon(z) = \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_z \Psi(z) = \frac{1}{2i} G^T(z) \dot{W}.$$
 (4.18)

Applying ∂_z to (4.16) we get

$$0 = \partial_z F(z) \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z) + F(z) \partial_z \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z) - i(G^{-1}(z))^T (\partial_z G^T(z)) (G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z)$$

$$+ i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z).$$
(4.19)

Applying $\partial_{\bar{z}}$ to (4.15) we get

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \dot{W}(z) = \partial_{\bar{z}} F(z) \partial_{z} Y(z) + F(z) \partial_{\bar{z}} \partial_{z} Y(z) - i (G^{-1}(z))^{T} (\partial_{\bar{z}} G^{T}(z)) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z) + i (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{z} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z)$$

$$(4.20)$$

Mathematician

Graduation Project

Replacing (4.19) in (4.20) we get

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\dot{W}(z) = \partial_{\bar{z}}F(z)\partial_{z}\Upsilon(z) - i(G^{-1}(z))^{T}(\partial_{\bar{z}}G^{T}(z))(G^{-1}(z))^{T}\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z) - \partial_{z}F(z)\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^{T}(\partial_{z}G^{T}(z))(G^{-1}(z))^{T}\partial_{\bar{z}}\Psi(z).$$

$$(4.21)$$

From Definition 18 note that $(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z G^T(z) = (\partial_z F(z))F^{-1}(z)$. Then in (4.21) we get

$$\begin{aligned}
\partial_{\bar{z}} \dot{W}(z) &= \partial_{\bar{z}} F(z) \partial_{z} Y(z) - i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{z} \Psi(z) - (\partial_{z} F(z)) \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z) \\
&+ i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z) \\
&= \partial_{\bar{z}} F(z) \partial_{z} Y(z) - i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{z} \Psi(z) \\
&- \overline{(\partial_{z} F(z) \partial_{\bar{z}} Y(z) + i(\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} \partial_{\bar{z}} \Psi(z))}
\end{aligned}$$
(4.22)

by replacing (4.18) in (4.22) we obtain

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\bar{z}} \dot{W}(z) &= \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(G^{-1}(z))^{T} G^{T}(z) \dot{W}(z) \\ &- \overline{\left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) (G^{-1}(z))^{T} G^{T}(z) \dot{W}(z)\right)} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1} \dot{W}(z) \\ &- \overline{\left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z)\right)} \\ &= - \overline{\left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z)\right)} \\ &= - \overline{\left((\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z)\right)} \\ &= - \overline{\left((\partial_{\bar{z}} F(z)) F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z)\right)} \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have that

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}\dot{W} = -(\partial_z F)F^{-1}\overline{\dot{W}}, \text{ in } \Omega.$$

This completes the proof.

Definition 21. Note that (4.14) is an $n \times n$ matrix Vekua equation. More precisely, let an $n \times n$ complex matrix function V defined in Ω . In a complete analogy with the complex case we say that the successor matrix Vekua equation of (4.1) is given by

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}V = (-\partial_{z}F)F^{-1}\overline{V}, \quad in \ \Omega.$$
(4.23)

Mathematician

4.4 Integration with respect to the generating pair $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$

By equation (4.18) we get

$$\partial_z \Upsilon = \frac{1}{2} F^{-1} \dot{W} \text{ and } \partial_z \Psi = -\frac{i}{2} G^T \dot{W}.$$
 (4.24)

To recover Y and Ψ we use the operator *A* (defined in section 2.2.2). Then, applying the operator *A* to each matrix equation in (4.24) we recover Y and Ψ as follows

$$Y = A\left[\frac{1}{2}F^{-1}\dot{W}\right]$$
 and $\Psi = -A\left[\frac{i}{2}G^T\dot{W}\right].$

Hence, we write any $n \times n$ matrix complex-valued function *W* defined in Ω in terms of operator *A* in the following way:

$$W = FA\left[\frac{1}{2}F^{-1}\dot{W}\right] - i(G^{-1})^{T}A\left[\frac{i}{2}G^{T}\dot{W}\right].$$
(4.25)

Consequently, in (4.25) appears the additive term $FC_1 + i(G^{-1})^T C_2$ for $C_1, C_2 \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R})$. Fixing $W(z_0)$ where $z_0 \in \Omega$, we have $C_1 = Y(z_0)$ and $C_2 = \Psi(z_0)$.

Definition 22. Let W be an $n \times n$ complex matrix function defined in Ω and Γ a rectifiable curve leading from z_0 to z_1 in Ω . Then, we have that

(a) The $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -*-integral is defined as

*
$$\int_{\Gamma} W(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) W(z) dz - i \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} i G^T(z) W(z) dz.$$

(b) The $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -integral is defined by

$$\int_{\Gamma} W(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = F(z_1) \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) W(z) dz - i(G^{-1}(z_1))^T \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} iG^T(z) W(z) dz.$$

Definition 23. Let a continuous $n \times n$ matrix function W defined in Ω . We say that W is $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -integrable in Ω if for every closed curve Γ lying in a simply connected subdomain of Ω we have

$$\oint_{\Gamma} W(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = 0.$$
(4.26)

Proposition 23. Let W be an $n \times n$ matrix function solution of the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) in Ω where Ω is simply connected domain. Then its $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -derivative is $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -integrable in Ω .

Proof. Let us take a closed curve Γ such that it lies in Ω . It is enough to prove that

$$* \oint_{\Gamma} \dot{W}(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = 0.$$
(4.27)

From Definition 22 item (*a*) we get

$$*\oint_{\Gamma} \dot{W}(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) \dot{W}(z) dz - \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} -iG^T(z) \dot{W}(z) dz.$$

Since $\dot{W}(z) = F(z)\partial_z Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z)$, it follows that

$$\begin{split} * \oint_{\Gamma} \dot{W}(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z &= \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) \left(F(z) \partial_z Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z) \right) dz \\ &- \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} iG^T(z) \left(F(z) \partial_z Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z) \right) dz \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\partial_z Y(z) + iF^{-1}(z)(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z) \right) \\ &- \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(iG^T(z)F(z) \partial_z Y - \partial_z \Psi(z) \right) dz \end{split}$$

From (4.13) we have that $F(z)\partial_z Y(z) = i(G^{-1}(z))^T \partial_z \Psi(z)$. Then

$$* \oint_{\Gamma} \dot{W}(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^{T})} z = \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} 2\partial_{z} Y(z) dx + \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} 2\partial_{z} \Psi(z) dz = \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\partial_{x} Y(z) - i \partial_{y} Y(z) \right) (dx + i dy) + \operatorname{Re} \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\partial_{x} \Psi(z) - i \partial_{y} \Psi(z) \right) (dx + i dy) = \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\partial_{x} Y(z) dx + \partial_{y} Y(z) dy \right) + \oint_{\Gamma} \left(\partial_{x} \Psi(z) dx + \partial_{y} \Psi(z) dy \right)$$
(4.28)

By Theorem 1 we have that the integrals in (4.28) are path-independent. Consequently, we get

$$\oint_{\Gamma} \dot{W}(z) d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)} z = 0.$$

This completes the proof.

Proposition 24. Let V be an $n \times n$ continuous complex-valued matrix function defined in Ω where Ω is a simply connected domain. If V is $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -integrable in Ω , then there exists

a solution W of the main matrix Vekua equation (4.1) such that

$$V = \frac{d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)}W}{dz}, \quad in \ \Omega.$$

Proof. Let z_0 and z in Ω . Assume that V is $(F, i(G^{-1})^T)$ -integrable in Ω . From Definition 22 item (*a*) we have that

$$*\int_{\Gamma} V(z)d_{(F,i(G^{-1})^T)}z = \operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z)V(z)dz - i\operatorname{Re}\int_{\Gamma} iG^T(z)V(z)dz,$$

where Γ a rectifiable curve leading from z_0 to z. Let us denote

$$Y(z) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) V(z) dz, \qquad (4.29)$$

$$\Psi(z) = \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} -iG^{T}(z)V(z)dz.$$
(4.30)

Note that for (4.29) we get

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{Y}(z) &= \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) V(z) dz \\ &= \frac{2}{2} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) + iV_{2}(z) \right) \left(dx + idy \right) \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(2V_{1}(z) + 2iV_{2}(z) \right) \left(dx + idy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(2V_{1}(z) dx - 2V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(2V_{1}(z) dx + iV_{1}(z) dy - iV_{1}(z) dy \right) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(iV_{2}(z) dx - iV_{2}(z) dx - 2V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) dx + iV_{1}(z) dy + iV_{2}(z) dx - V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &+ \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) dx - iV_{1}(z) dy - iV_{2}(z) dx - V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) dx - iV_{1}(z) dy - iV_{2}(z) dx - V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) dx - iV_{1}(z) dy - iV_{2}(z) dx - V_{2}(z) dy \right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) \left(V_{1}(z) dx + \overline{V}(z) d\overline{z} \right) \end{split}$$
(4.31)

Analogously, we have that (4.30) is equal to

$$\Psi(z) = \int_{\Gamma} \frac{1}{2i} G^{T}(z) \left(V(z) dz - \overline{V}(z) d\overline{z} \right)$$
(4.32)

Taking ∂_z to (4.31) and (4.32) we get

$$\partial_z Y(z) = \frac{1}{2} F^{-1}(z) V(z),$$
(4.33)

$$\partial_z \Psi(z) = \frac{1}{2i} G^T(z) V(z). \tag{4.34}$$

Hence adding (4.33) and (4.34)

$$F(z)\partial_{z}Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^{T}\partial_{z}\Psi = \frac{1}{2}F(z)F^{-1}(z)V(z) + \frac{1}{2}(G^{-1}(z))^{T}G^{T}(z)V(z)$$

= V(z) (4.35)

Then taking the conjugate to (4.33) and (4.34) and adding them we get

$$F(z)\partial_{\overline{z}}Y(z) + i(G^{-1}(z))^{T}\partial_{\overline{z}}\Psi(z) = \frac{1}{2}F(z)F^{-1}(z)\overline{V}(z) + \frac{1}{2}(G^{-1}(z))^{T}G^{T}(z)\overline{V}(z) = 0$$
(4.36)

From Theorem 9 and (4.35) we have that $\dot{W} = V$. While, by Proposition 21 we have that \dot{W} is solution of the main matrix Vekua equation in Ω . Therefore, by arbitrariness of z_0 and z the proof is done.

Bibliography

- [1] ASMAR, N., AND GRAFAKOS, L. *Complex Analysis with Applications*. Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer International Publishing, 2018.
- [2] BERS, L. *Theory of Pseudo-Analytic Functions*. New York University. Institute for Mathematics and Mechanics, 1953.
- [3] BERS, L. Formal powers and power series. *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics 9*, 4 (1956), 693–711.
- [4] CAMPOS, H. M., CASTILLO-PÉREZ, R., AND KRAVCHENKO, V. V. Construction and application of Bergman-type reproducing kernels for boundary and eigenvalue problems in the plane. *Complex Variables and Elliptic Equations* 57, 7-8 (2012), 787– 824.
- [5] САМРОЅ, Н. М., AND KRAVCHENKO, V. V. Fundamentals of Bicomplex Pseudoanalytic Function Theory: Cauchy Integral Formulas, Negative formal powers and schrödinger Equations with Complex Coefficients. *Complex Analysis and Operator Theory* 7, 2 (2013), 485–518.
- [6] САМРОЅ, Н. М., КRAVCHENKO, V. V., AND MÉNDEZ, L. M. Complete Families of Solutions for the Dirac Equation Using Bicomplex Function Theory and Transmutations. Advances in Applied Clifford Algebras 22 (2012), 577–594.
- [7] KRAVCHENKO, V. *Applied Pseudoanalytic Function Theory*. Frontiers in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Basel, 2009.
- [8] KRAVCHENKO, V. V. On a relation of pseudoanalytic function theory to the twodimensional stationary Schrödinger equation and Taylor series in formal powers

for its solutions. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General 38,* 18 (2005), 3947–3964.

- [9] KRAVCHENKO, V. V., AND OVIEDO, H. On Beltrami fields with nonconstant proportionality factor on the plane. *Reports on Mathematical Physics 61*, 1 (2008), 29–38.
- [10] Ruiz, C. Cálculo vectorial. Prentice Hall Hispanoamericana, S.A., 1995.
- [11] TUTSCHKE, W., AND VASUDEVA, H. L. An Introduction to Complex Analysis: Classical and Modern Approaches. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2004.
- [12] VEKUA, I. N. *Generalized Analytic Functions*. Moscow: Nauka (in Russian); English translation Oxford: Pergamon Press, 1962.